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COLLEGE OF PHARMACISTS OF MANITOBA  

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
SATURDAY, APRIL 26, 2014 – 11 A.M. 

Winnipeg Convention Centre 

2nd Floor Presentation Theatre 

375 York Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba 
 

 

 
 

The Annual General Meeting of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba is scheduled to 

commence at 11:00 a.m. at The Winnipeg Convention Centre, in Winnipeg, at which 

time a series of annual reports will be presented. 

 

The reports will be presented for information and any issues arising from the reports will 

be referred to the Issues Forum, which will occur in the afternoon. 

 
A G E N D A - O R D E R   O F   B U S I N E S S 

CHAIR – Kyle MacNair 
 

1. Reading of the minutes of the 2013 Annual General Meeting 

2. Business arising from the minutes  

3. Executive Treasurer’s Report 

4. Registrar’s Report 

5. Deputy Registrar’s Report 

6. President’s Address 

7. Report of the Elections Committee  

8. Committee and Liaison Reports (passed for information as a group) 

9. New Business 

10. Unfinished Business 

11. Faculty of Pharmacy Report and Notice of Motion 

Notice of Motion: Chris Louizos will move or cause to be moved, seconded by 

Sheila Ng “that the College support the continuation of the $100.00 levy, per 

member’s annual license fee, to the Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba, 

for the 2015 licensing year.” 

12. Omnibus Motion 

13. Adjourn 
 

The Order of Business is designed to allow the formal Annual General Meeting to 

complete its mandate of closing the dealings that have been completed for the 

previous fiscal year. Reports are to encompass that fiscal year only. Those issues 

requiring detailed discussion or where resolution cannot be established will be 

forwarded to the Issues Forum to be held at the Manitoba Pharmacy Conference.   
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The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Annual General Meeting – Rules of Procedure 
 

 

1. A Notice of Meeting will be forwarded to the entire membership no less than twenty-

one (21) days prior to the scheduled meeting. 

2. A quorum is required to convene a meeting and to transact any business. A quorum 

must be at least 5% of the voting members in attendance. 

3. A Parliamentarian will assist with parliamentary procedure as the need arises.  

4.  Robert’s Rules of Order will govern. 

5. The Chair of the general meeting may permit discussion of motions that are for 

information and do not require action by the College. Motions, either simple or by 

resolution, accepted at an annual general meeting, or a special general meeting, 

requiring action on behalf of the College shall be forwarded to Council for 

consideration and decision. 

6. All voting members must sign the attendance sign-in sheet. 

7. Voting cards will be issued to all voting members. 

8. All members and Council members may speak only once to any given resolution and 

debate may be limited, unless permission to the contrary is given by the assembly. 

9. All persons wishing to address the meeting are requested to speak at the microphone 

and are further requested to identify themselves by name before speaking. 

10. The Mover and Seconder can speak first, followed by other speakers. The Mover has 

the option of being the last speaker to the motion. 

11. Speakers must address the chair. 

12. All members present are encouraged to engage in discussion, but only voting 

members and Council members may make motions and vote. 

13. The members of the College consist of the persons whose names are on the register 

and who have paid the fees prescribed in the bylaws. 

14. Every member who is a licensed pharmacist and members of Council are entitled to 

vote at a meeting of the College. 

15. Non-members and observers are welcome to attend, but are unable to engage in 

discussion or vote. 

16. Motion forms will be provided. Motions should be in writing on these forms and the 

appropriate copy given to the Chair at the time of making the motion. 

 

Clarification: 

 Only licensed pharmacists and Council members have the right to vote; however, all members who are on 

the College register and have paid a fee for the current year can speak, but not vote. 

 Regarding the right to speak at meetings of the College, Robert’s Rules would apply and the voting members 

(licensed pharmacists with a vote) and Council members attending the meeting would decide in each incident 

whether or not an attendee at the meeting would have the right to speak. 
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The Manitoba Pharmaceutical Association 
200 Tache Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba 

TELEPHONE (204) 233-1411 FAX: (204) 237-3468 e-mail: info@mpha.mb.ca 

 

 

 

  

April 6, 2013 
Annual General Meeting 

Minutes 
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MINUTES OF THE 135TH ANNUAL MEETING 

THE MANITOBA PHARMACEUTICAL ASSOCIATION 

THE WINNIPEG CONVENTION CENTRE, WINNIPEG, MANITOBA 

SATURDAY, APRIL 6, 2013 
 

PRESIDENT KYLE MACNAIR called the meeting to order at 11:20 a.m. with 93 members in 

attendance. 

 

QUORUM DECLARED. 
 

PRESIDENT MACNAIR welcomed attendees to the 135th Annual Meeting of M.Ph.A.  

 

PRESIDENT MACNAIR acknowledged the following guests in attendance: 

 Dayle Acorn, Canadian Foundation of Pharmacy 

 Dr. Brenna Shearer, Manitoba Society of Pharmacists 

 Past Presidents of MPhA 

o Albert Eros 

o Lois Cantin 

o Pat Trozzo 

o Ron Eros 

o Randall Stephanchew 

o Gary Cavanagh  

o Shawn Bugden 

o Charles McClure 

 

Mr. David Marr was appointed parliamentarian for the meeting. 

 

THE REGISTRAR read the names of those members who had passed away since the last annual 

meeting: 

“The names I read are the names of pharmacists registered in Manitoba that have passed away 

since the last Annual General Meeting. These pharmacists have devoted their career to providing 

patient care and to keeping patients safe.  

 Jean Rose  June 25, 2012 

 Patricia Taylor  July 10, 2012 

 Charles Newbury July 11, 2012 

 Stuart Douglas  October 11, 2012 

 Archie Orlikow  December 6, 2012 

 Melville Waddell December 21, 2012 

 Sharon Moncek  February 6, 2013 

 Ronald Connors  February 21, 2013 

 

It is fitting to honour their passing with a moment of silence.”  

 

ONE MINUTE’S SILENCE WAS OBSERVED IN MEMORY OF THE ABOVE MEMBERS. 

 

INTRODUCTION BY PRESIDENT MACNAIR: 

 
The Order of Business is designed to allow the formal Annual General Meeting to complete its 

mandate in closing the dealings that have been completed for the previous fiscal year. Reports have 
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been circulated and encompass that fiscal year only. By-laws or Regulation changes should be put 

forward as part of the Annual General Meeting or as part of a Special General Meeting. Those issues 

requiring detailed discussion or where resolution cannot be established will be forwarded to the 

Issues Forum to be held at the Manitoba Pharmacy Conference or at a Special General Meeting in 

accordance with the Pharmaceutical Act. 

 

In accordance with By-Law 1.5 to the Pharmaceutical Act, members are reminded that: 

The chair of the general meeting may permit discussion and acceptance of motions that are for 

information and do not require action by the Association. Motions, either simple or by resolution, 

accepted at a general meeting requiring action on behalf of the Association shall be forwarded to 

Council for consideration and decision. 

 

ADDITIONS TO THE AGENDA: 
 

PRESIDENT MACNAIR stated that the agenda for the meeting has been circulated and asked the 

membership if there was any new business they wished to add to the agenda. 

 

No Additions to the Agenda. 

 

1. READING OF THE MINUTES OF THE APRIL 21, 2012, ANNUAL GENERAL 

MEETING: 

MOTION #1: MOVED BY GEOFF NAMAKA, SECONDED BY KURT 

SCHROEDER THAT the reading of the April 21, 2012, Annual General Meeting 

Minutes be waived. 

 

   CARRIED 

 

MOTION #2: MOVED BY SHAWN BUGDEN, SECONDED BY JARRID McKITRICK 

THAT the April 21, 2012, Annual General Meeting Minutes be approved. 

 

   CARRIED 

 

2. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
MOTION #3:  MOVED BY DINAH SANTOS, SECONDED BY JENNIFER 

LUDWIG THAT the Business Arising from the Minutes be approved as published in the 

2013 Annual Reports. 

 

  CARRIED 
 

3. EXECUTIVE TREASURER’S REPORT 
MOTION #4: MOVED BY GEOFF NAMAKA, SECONDED BY KRISTINE 

PETRASKO THAT the Executive Treasurer’s Report and the Auditor’s Report be 

approved. 

 

   CARRIED 

 

4. REGISTRAR’S REPORT 
MOTION #5: MOVED BY KRISTINE PETRASKO, SECONDED BY GLENDA 

MARSH THAT the Report of the Registrar be received by this Annual Meeting. 
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   CARRIED 

 

5. DEPUTY REGISTRAR’S REPORT 
MOTION #6: MOVED BY JENNIFER LUDWIG, SECONDED BY DINAH SANTOS 

THAT the Report of the Deputy Registrar be received by this Annual Meeting. 

 

   CARRIED 

 

6. PRESIDENT’S ADDRESS 

PRESIDENT MACNAIR yielded control of the chair to Vice-President Petrasko: 

 

The Chairman asked the President to present his address to the membership.  

 

President’s Address: 
 

It is my pleasure to welcome you all to the 135th Annual General Meeting of the 

Manitoba Pharmaceutical Association. Thank-you for taking an active interest in the 

activities of this Association through your participation in today’s meeting.  

 

Although it may seem cliché to say, it has been a big year for MPhA in a number of 

areas. 

 

First, we have welcomed three individuals to the MPhA office staff over the past year. 

Ronda Eros, Pharmacy Practice Consultant; Lita Hnatiuk, Communications and Quality 

Assurance Coordinator; and finally Stacey Hjorleifson, Administrative Secretary. I would 

like to provide a warm welcome to the new staff on behalf of council and the membership. 

With the many new faces, the office has operated efficiently and effectively over the last 

year thanks to the strong leadership provided by our Registrar Ronald Guse. I would like 

to thank Ron and the team at the MPhA office for their tireless work and dedication to the 

pharmacy profession and protection of the public.  

 

Along with new staffing at Pharmacy House, we will also be seeing some substantial 

infrastructure improvement with the beginning of our lower level renovations. This 

renovation will see improvements in our board room, addition of staff locker room and 

creation of the pharmacy museum. We look forward to welcoming you to tour the newly 

renovated space sometime in the coming year.  

 

Next, I would like to highlight a few of the major milestones that have occurred over the 

past year. A lot of work has been put into the IT infrastructure of the association. This 

has included advancing and refining the electronic license renewal process as well as 

introducing the on-line professional development log. In the area of quality assurance, 

Deputy Registrar Susan Lessard-Friesen and past president Shawn Bugden 

quarterbacked an extensive review by the Office of the Fairness Commissioner of 

MPhA’s licensing of international pharmacy graduates.  

 

I would also like to address the perennial topic of the enactment of the 2006 

Pharmaceutical Act. At the Annual Meeting last year the Code of Ethics was passed, a 

significant milestone in this process. Since then, great effort has been invested on the rest 

of the requirements for enactment. Assistant Registrar Kim McIntosh, in association with 

the Faculty of Pharmacy and the Professional Development committee launched the 
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injection training program for our Province. The Standards of Practice Committee has 

made significant progress on the drafting of Practice Directions that provide guidance 

and detail to support the Regulations. We have received, interpreted and circulated the 

first 11 Parts of the regulations in pen ultimate form. And since then we have begun to 

see the bits and pieces of the rest of the document from the Legislative Drafting Unit. 

 

It would be my greatest pleasure to stand here today and tell you exactly when we will 

have the final set of regulations for the membership to vote on. However, at this point it is 

impossible to make firm predictions or statements about when this will occur. Every time 

we try to put a stake in the ground it seems that some unforeseen complication or issue 

arises that unfortunately pushes it back a little bit. However, I can confidently say that 

council and the staff of MPhA have been working feverishly towards the completion of 

these documents. It is the first item on the agenda of almost every meeting we have; 

council, executive, joint stakeholder, joint executive, and especially every meeting with 

Manitoba Health. As a result, progress is being made. Slowly but surely the ball keeps 

moving forward.  

 

It has been my privilege to serve as president of MPhA council for the past year. 

Although there are also a lot of new faces around that table, we have come together as a 

strong team over the past year to accomplish a lot. We have enjoyed a collaborative 

working relationship with MSP, CSHP Manitoba Branch, Manitoba Health and our other 

key stakeholders. We have set forth a renewed strategic plan with new goals and key 

strategies for success (which I encourage you all to visit on the MPhA website). And we 

are working hard to bring about the changes to the practice of pharmacy that the 

membership, the government and the people of Manitoba are looking for.  

 

Thank-you, and enjoy the rest of the conference. 

 

VICE-PRESIDENT PETRASKO returned control of the Chair to PRESIDENT 

MACNAIR. 

 

7. COMMITTEE REPORTS & LIAISON REPORTS: 
a) Professional Development Committee Report – Kristine Petrasko 

b) Standards of Practice Committee – Pat Trozzo 

c) National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA) Report – Kyle 

MacNair 

d) Board of Examiners – Neal Davies 

e) Awards and Nominating Committee – Shawn Bugden 

f) Governance Committee – Shawn Bugden 

g) Finance & Risk Management – Geoff Namaka 

h) Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) Report – Shawn Bugden 

i) Faculty of Pharmacy – Student Liaison Report – Melissa Gobin 

 

MOTION #7: MOVED BY GLENDA MARSH, SECONDED BY RANDALL 

STEPHANCHEW THAT the Annual Committee and Liaison Reports above be approved 

by the Annual Meeting for information.  

 

   CARRIED 

 

8. NEW BUSINESS 
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No new business. 

 

9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 No unfinished business. 

 

10. FACULTY OF PHARMACY REPORT & MOTION 
MOTION #8: MOVED BY JARRID McKITRICK, SECONDED BY RANDALL 

STEPHANCHEW THAT the Faculty of Pharmacy Report be accepted for information. 

 

  CARRIED  
 

Dr. Neal Davies, Dean of the Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba, addressed the 

members and extended gratitude for the support that the members provide with the annual 

levy. 

 

It was acknowledged by Dr. Neal Davies, the passing of Irene Lewis, friend of the Faculty of 

Pharmacy. 

 

MOTION #9: MOVED BY PAT TROZZO, SECONDED BY RON EROS THAT 

M.Ph.A. support the continuation of the $100.00 levy, per member’s annual licence fee, to 

the Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba, for the 2014 licensing year. 

 

  CARRIED (Opposed – two; Abstained – zero) 

 

11. OMNIBUS MOTION 
Mr. Ernest Stefanson presented the following motion: 

 

MOTION #10: MOVED BY ERNEST STEFANSON, SECONDED BY CLAIRE GILLIS 

THAT all acts, contracts, elections, appointments and payments made by Council of the 

MPhA since the last Annual Meeting in 2012 as set forth and referred to in the minutes of 

council or of statements submitted to this meeting be the same and are hereby ratified and 

confirmed. 

 

   CARRIED 

 

12. ADJOURN 
MOTION #11: MOVED BY GAYLE ROMANETZ, SECONDED BY LOIS CANTIN 

THAT the meeting be adjourned at 11:45 a.m. 

 

   CARRIED 

 

  

Page 8 of 85



Business Arising Report  

From the April 6, 2013, Annual General Meeting  

to the April 26, 2014, Annual General Meeting  
 

 

MOTION #9: MOVED BY PAT TROZZO, SECONDED BY RON EROS THAT 

M.Ph.A. support the continuation of the $100.00 levy, per member’s annual licence fee, to 

the Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba, for the 2014 licensing year. 

 

 CARRIED 

 

The Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba levy was collected with the 2014 pharmacist 

licence fee and will be forwarded to the Faculty of Pharmacy.  
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Report of the Executive Treasurer 

 
The year 2013 showed an operating surplus of $14,397 based on a total revenue of $1,911,839. 

 

The retained earnings of the College as at December 31, 2013, were $1,943,756. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Geoff Namaka, Executive Treasurer 

  

Page 10 of 85



College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

2014 Budget 

 
Revenue  

Practicing Fees 1,133,647 

Pharmacy Fees 399,000 

Registration Fees 37,200 

Non-Practicing Fees 17,340 

Mailing/Notice Subscription 500 

Pharmacy Transfer Fees 9,140 

Miscellaneous Income 10,000 

Fines and Costs 00 

Extended Practice Pharmacists 1,500 

Academic Register 500 

Pharmacy Pre-Opening Inspection 5,000 

Pharmacy Technicians 2,500 

Other Income  

       Sale of Supplies 2,040 

       Interest Income 50,000 

       Lock and Leave Program 10,000 

       Rental Income 7,650 

       Professional Development Revenue 5,000 

       Distance Care IPS 37,800 

       Ext. Dispensing & Secondary Hosp. 10,000 

       Satellite Pharmacies 1,030 

       Total Other Income 123,520 

Total Revenue 1,739,847 

  

Operational Expenses  

Annual Golf Tournament 00 

Welcome to the Profession 4,000 

Field Operations 8,000 

Registrar’s Expenses 3,250 

Assistant Registrar’s Expenses 3,000 

Deputy Registrar’s Expenses 2,000 

Faculty of Pharmacy Levy 144,900 

NAPRA Delegates 9,000 

NAPRA Levy 65,350 

Contributions – Sundry 2,500 

President’s Honorarium 6,600 

Council Meetings 55,000 

Executive Meetings 10,000 

District Meetings 2,500 

Annual Meetings 13,000 

General/Special Meetings 7,500 

Other Meetings 10,000 

Complaints Committee 8,500 

Discipline Committee 10,000 

Discipline – Legal 50,000 

Medals & Awards 13,000 

Young Leaders Awards 2,500 

Other Conferences & Travel 20,000 

Total Operational Expenses 450,600 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Professional Development 

P.D. Program Expenses 27,500 

  

Administration Expenses  

CPP Expense 20,500 

Professional Services 64,000 

Building – Heat 3,800 

Building – Light & Water 6,600 

Building – Maintenance & Repairs 20,000 

Building – Taxes 21,000 

Building – Insurance 4,000 

Staff Development 5,000 

Delivery Expense 2,000 

Depreciation. - Office Equipment 5,000 

Depreciation – Building 00 

Depreciation – Software 10,000 

Depreciation – Computer Hardware 3,000 

Depreciation – Reno & Leasehold Imp. 21,500 

Depreciation – Photocopier 3,500 

Dues & Subscriptions 4,500 

Salaries 732,066 

Insurance – Group & Liability 46,500 

Communication Resources  

       General Resource 20,000 

       Communication Plan Expenses 20,000 

Computer Expenses & I/T 35,000 

Equipment Maintenance 7,500 

Project Management Consultant 00 

Regulation Implementation Costs 50,000 

Printing & Supplies 10,000 

Pension Plan 39,270 

Postage 13,000 

Sundry 4,000 

Bank & Transaction Charges 32,000 

Telephone 9,500 

EI Expense 11,500 

External Affairs 20,000 

Human Resource Support 10,000 

Total Administration Expenses 1,254,736 

  

EXPENSE SUMMARY  

Total Operational Expenses 450,600 

Total P.D. Program Expenses 27,500 

Total Administration Expenses 1,254,736 

Total Expenses 1,732,836 

  

  

TOTAL INCOME 1,739,847 

TOTAL EXPENSES (1,732,836) 

OPERATING SURPLUS (LOSS) 7,011 
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Grant Thornton LLP 
94 Commerce Drive 
Winnipeg, MB 
R3P 0Z3 
 

T (204) 944-0100 
F (204) 957-5442 
www.GrantThornton.ca 

Audit • Tax • Advisory 
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

 

 
 

 1

Independent auditor’s report 

To the Members of Council of 
College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
 
We have audited the accompanying non-consolidated financial statements of College of 
Pharmacists of Manitoba, which comprise the non-consolidated statement of financial position 
as at December 31, 2013, the non-consolidated statement of revenues and expenses, the non-
consolidated statement of changes in net assets, the non-consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements  
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these non-consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these non-consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the non-consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the non-consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
non-consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the non-consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the non-consolidated 
financial statements.  
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Audit • Tax • Advisory 
Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

 

 2

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion  
In our opinion, the non-consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of College of Pharmacists of Manitoba as at December 31, 2013, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.  
 
Prior year’s comparative figures were audited by another firm of chartered accountants 
with the exception of Note 3 prior period adjustment. 

Winnipeg, Manitoba  

March 17, 2014  Chartered Accountants 
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
 
 

 3

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Revenue and Expenses 
Year Ended December 31, 2013 
 
     2013   2012  
    Budget Actual Actual   
    (Note 12) 
Fee revenue 
 Practicing fees 
 Pharmacy fees 
 Fines and costs 
 Registration fees 
 Non-practicing fees 
 Miscellaneous income 
 Pharmacy transfer fees 
 Mailing/Notice Subscriptions 

 
$ 1,102,875 
 476,519 
 - 
 30,000
 17,000 
 10,000 
 7,000 
 1,000 

 
$ 1,117,184 
 482,736 
 25,000 
 45,560 
 19,058 
 14,656 
 15,555 
 412 

 
$ 1,184,294 
 509,467 
 20,000 
 48,794 
 16,807 
 25,114 
 9,028 
 1,030 

  1,644,394  1,720,161  1,814,534 
Other income 
 Net investment income 
 Professional development 
 Lock and leave program 
 Rental income 
 Sale of supplies 
 Satellite pharmacies 
 M3P 
 ICPD-OMFC Project 
 Smoking Cessation Program 

 
 25,000 
 5,000 
 10,000 
 7,500 
 2,000 
 500 
 - 
 -
 - 

 
 77,767 
 25,062 
 12,150 
 7,500 
 1,845 
 824 
 66,231 
 34 
 265 

 
 72,357 
 20,129 
 12,605 
 7,500 
 1,618 
 1,030 
 68,615 
 14,966 
 - 

 
 

 50,000  191,678  198,820 

Total revenues 
 

 1,694,394  1,911,839  2,013,354 

Expenses 
 M3P 
 ICPD-OMFC Project 
 Smoking Cessation Program 
 Operations expenses (Page 17) 
 Administration expenses (Page 18) 
 Professional development (Page 18) 

 
 - 
 -
 - 
 490,305 
 1,110,587 
 27,500 

 
 66,231 
 34 
 265 
 517,960 
 1,147,890 
 34,045 

 
 68,615 
 14,966 
 - 
 493,887
 1,066,872 
 29,650 

  1,628,392  1,766,425  1,673,990 
Excess of revenues over expenses 
 from operations 

 
 66,002 

 
 145,414 

 
 339,364 

 
Other items 
 Depreciation (Note 6) 
 Loss of DIA Management Group Ltd.  
 Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable  
  securities 

 
 
 (40,000) 
 - 
 
 - 

 
 
 (55,576) 
 (2,974) 
 
 (72,467) 

 
 
 (40,782) 
 (2,731) 
 
 23,804 

 
 

 (40,000)  (131,017)  (19,709) 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 26,002 $ 14,397 $ 319,655 
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Year Ended December 31, 2013 
 
 
    Internally 
  Invested in  restricted 2013  2012 
   capital assets Unrestricted  (Note 8)  Total  Total 
 
 
Net assets, beginning of year  
 
Prior period adjustment (Note 3) 

$ 111,641 
  
 - 

$ 1,712,556 
  
 (55,638) 

$ 190,000 
  
 - 

$ 2,014,197 
  
 (55,638) 

$ 1,687,927 
  
 (49,023) 

 
Net assets, beginning of year 
 restated 
 
Excess of revenues over expenses 
 
Purchase of capital assets 
 
Interfund transfers 
 
Information technology risk 
 analysis & network 
 assessment 
 

 
  
$ 111,641 
 
 (55,576) 
  
 147,724 
 
 - 
 
 
 
 - 

 
  
$ 1,656,918 
 
 69,973 
  
 (7,724) 
 
 (29,200) 
 
 
 
 - 

 
 
$ 190,000 
 
 - 
 
 (140,000) 
 
 29,200 
 
 
 
 (29,200) 

 
 
$ 1,958,559 
 
 14,397 
 
  -
 
 - 
 
 
 
 (29,200) 

  
 
$ 1,638,904 
 
 319,655 
  
 - 
 
 - 
 
 
 
 - 

Net assets, end of year $ 203,789 $ 1,689,967 $ 50,000 $ 1,943,756 $ 1,958,559 
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
December 31,    2013   2012 
 
 
Assets 
Current 
 Cash  
 Marketable securities (Note 4) 
 Grant receivable 
 Prepaid expenses 
 Due from DIA Management Group Ltd. (Note 5) 
 

 
 

 

 
 
$ 653,722 
 1,888,449 
 30,000 
 12,733 
 209,619 

 
 
$ 611,602
 1,926,607
 -
 2,947
 209,619
 

 
Capital assets (Note 6) 
Investment in DIA Management Group Ltd. (Note 7) 
Restricted asset – Due from operating (Note 8) 

 
 2,794,523 
 203,789 
 940,047 
 50,000 

 2,750,775
 111,641
 943,021
 190,000

  
 

 
$ 3,988,359 

 
$ 3,995,437

 
Trust  funds 
Building fund 
 Due from operating fund 
 
Library fund 
 Due from operating fund 
 

  
 
$ 18,541 
 
 
 744 

 
 
$ 18,045
 
 
 460

   19,285  18,505
 
  $ 4,007,644 $ 4,013,942
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6

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
December 31,   2013   2012 
         (Note 3) 
 
 
Liabilities 
Current 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 Goods and services tax payable 
 Deferred income (Note 9) 
 Due to restricted assets (Note 8) 
 Due to trust funds 
 

 
 
  
  
 

 
 
$ 112,692 
 72,800 
 1,789,826 
 50,000 
 19,285 
 

 
 
$ 60,598 
 67,812 
 1,699,963 
 190,000 
 18,505 
 

 
 

  2,044,603  2,036,878 

Net Assets 
 Invested in capital assets 
 Internally restricted 
 Unrestricted 

 
  
  
 
  

 
 203,789 
 50,000 
 1,689,967 

 
 111,641 
 190,000 
 1,656,918 

   1,943,756 
 

 1,958,559 

  $ 3,988,359 $ 3,995,437 
 
Building fund 
 Balance, beginning of year 
 Add: interest income 
 Add: donation 
 

  
$ 18,044 
 497 
 - 

 
$ 14,661 
 384 
 3,000 

Balance, end of year 
 

  18,541  18,045 

Library fund 
 Balance, beginning of year 
 Add: contributions received 
 Add: interest income 
 Less: library purchases 

  
 460 
 900 
 13 
 (629) 

 
 331 
 400 
 9 
 (280) 
  

Balance, end of year 
 

  744  460 

  $ 19,285 $ 18,505 

 
  $ 4,007,644 $ 4,013,943 
 
 
On behalf of the Members of Council  
 
 
  Director   Director 
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7

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Non-Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended December 31   2013   2012 
         
 
 
Operating activities 
 Cash receipts from members 
 Cash paid to suppliers and employees 

 
 
$ 1,971,702 
 (1,723,745) 
 

 
 
$ 1,992,646 
 (1,671,369) 
 

Cash flow from operating activities 
 

 247,957  321,277 

Investing activities 
 Purchase of capital assets 
 Purchase of marketable securities, net 

 
 (147,724) 
 (58,113) 

 
 (34,728) 
 (280,798) 
 

Cash flow from investing activities 
 

 (205,837)  (315,526) 

Increase in cash 
 
Cash, beginning of year 
 

 42,120 
 
 611,602 

 5,751 
 
 605,851 

Cash, end of year $ 653,722 $ 611,602 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
1.  Nature of operations 
 
The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba (“College”) was formed under an act of the legislature 
of the Province of Manitoba as a body corporate to undertake regulatory activities for the 
pharmacy profession. The College was previously known as the “The Manitoba Pharmaceutical 
Association”.  It administers the Pharmaceutical Act (December 2006) and is responsible for 
licensing of pharmacists and pharmacies, establishing practice standards and Code of Ethics, 
complaint investigation and discipline, monitoring of continuing education of pharmacists and 
setting qualifications for pharmacy technicians. The College ensures the promotion, 
preservation and protection of the health and safety of public with respect to the practice of 
pharmacy.  As a non-profit Organization, the College is exempt from income tax on its earnings 
under Section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act. 
 
 
 
2.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of presentation 
 
The College has prepared these financial statements in accordance with Canadian Accounting 
Standards for Not-for-Profit Organizations (ASNPO).  
 
Fund accounting 
 
The College follows the restricted fund method of accounting. The purpose of the funds is as 
follows: 
 
The Operating Fund reflects all of the College’s main activities. The assets, liabilities, revenues 
and expenses related to program delivery and administrative expenses are reported in the 
Operating Fund.  
 
The Building Fund was set up for the purpose of future major renovations or re-location. As re-
location occurred in 2009 future funds received will be allocated to future improvement. All 
revenue and expenses related to the building initiatives are reported in the Building Fund and 
are shown directly in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
The Library Fund was set up to record purchases for the library. A $100 allocation is made 
whenever a member passes away. All revenue and expenses relating to the library initiatives 
are reported in the Library Fund and are shown directly in the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Initial measurement 
 
The College’s financial instruments are measured at fair value when issued or acquired.  For 
financial instruments subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost, fair value is adjusted by 
the amount of the related financing fees and transaction costs.  Transaction costs and financing 
fees relating to financial instruments that are measured subsequently at fair value are 
recognized in operations in the year in which they are incurred. 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Subsequent measurement 
 
At each reporting date, the College measures its financial assets and liabilities at cost or 
amortized cost (less impairment in the case of financial assets), except for equities quoted in an 
active market, which must be measured at fair value.  The College has also irrevocably elected 
to measure its investments in bonds at fair value.  All changes in fair value of the College’s 
investments in equities quoted in the active market and in bonds are recorded in the statement 
of revenues and expenses.  The College uses the effective interest rate method to amortize 
any premiums, discounts, transaction fees and financing fees to the statement of revenues and 
expenses.  The financial instruments measured at amortized cost are cash, due from DIA 
Management Group Ltd, grant receivable, accounts payable, and Goods and services Tax 
payable. 
 
For financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost, the College regularly assesses 
whether there are any indications of impairment.  If there is an indication of impairment, and the 
College determines that there is a significant adverse change in the expected timing or amount 
of future cash flows from the financial asset, it recognizes an impairment loss in the statement 
of revenues and expenses.  Any reversals of previously recognized impairment losses are 
recognized in operations in the year the reversal occurs. 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
 
The College has investments denoted in a foreign currency. The College translates all of its 
foreign currency transactions using the temporal method. Cash and investments are translated 
at the exchange rate in effect at year end. Investment income is translated at average year 
rates. Exchange gains and losses are included in investment income. 
 
Capital assets 
 
Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost. The capital assets are amortized over their 
estimated useful lives at the following rates using the straight-line method. 
   
   Computer hardware   4 years 
   Computer software   5 years 
   Furniture and fixtures   5 years 
   Office equipment 10 years 
   Renovations and leasehold improvements   5 years 
   Lower level renovations   5 years 
 
The College regularly reviews its capital assets to eliminate obsolete items. 
 
Investment in DIA Management Group  
 
The College purchased 100% of the outstanding shares of DIA Management Group Ltd. (DIA) 
on June 30, 2008. The investment is being recorded using the equity method where income or 
losses of DIA are recorded in the statement of operations with a corresponding adjustment to 
the cost of the investment. 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Revenue recognition 
 
The Operating Fund uses the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Contributions are 
recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be 
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
 
Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund in the year in which 
the related expenses are incurred.  Amounts received in excess of related expenses are 
recorded as defined income.  Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the 
appropriate fund when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably 
estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
 
Revenues from fees are recognized for the period in which they relate and when collection is 
reasonably assured. 
 
Fines, costs and interest are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount 
to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
 
The Building and Library Fund recognize contributions as revenue in the year they are 
received. 
 
Contributed materials and services 
 
Contributed materials and services are recognized at their fair value in the financial statements 
when the amount can be reasonably estimated and when the materials and services are used 
in the normal course of the organization’s operations and would otherwise have been 
purchased. 
 
The College cannot reasonably estimate the number of volunteer hours per year to assist the 
College in carrying out its service delivery activities.   
 
Use of estimates 
 
In preparing the College’s financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses during the year.  Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
3.  Prior period adjustment 
 
During 2013, the College discovered that a liability related to employees’ pension had not been 
recorded at December 31, 2012, and instead the payments were expensed when paid. The 
College also discovered that salaries had been recorded in the incorrect period as they were 
also expensed when paid. The following accounts have been restated: 
 
 2012, as 

previously 
stated 

 
 

Adjustment 

 
2012, 

restated 
  
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 Salaries 
 Pension plan 
 Net assets, beginning of year 
 Net assets, end of year 

 
$ 4,960 
 646,467 
 36,768 
 1,687,927 
 2,014,197

 
$ 55,638 
 6,461 
 154 
 (49,023) 
 (55,638) 

 
$ 60,598 
 652,928 
 36,922 
 1,638,904 
 1,958,559 

 
 
 
4.  Marketable securities 
 
Marketable securities have been adjusted to fair value for the 2013 year end as disclosed 
below:  
  2013  2012  
  Market Cost Market Cost 
 
Common shares 
Fixed income 
Mutual fund 

$ 112,994 
 1,071,264 
 704,191 

$ 102,825 
 1,169,115 
 704,191 

$ 58,426 
 1,057,202 
 810,979 

$ 53,981 
 1,076,862 
 810,979 

 $ 1,888,449 $ 1,976,131 $ 1,926,607 $ 1,941,822 
 
The marketable securities are on account with RBC Dominion Securities and are invested in 
GICs, bonds, trusts, mutual funds and common shares. Interest rates on fixed income ranges 
from 1.60% to 7.30% and mature between June, 2018 and October, 2049. 
 
 
 
5.  Due from DIA Management Ltd. 
 
The amounts due from DIA Management Group Ltd. arose from cash advances. The advances 
bear no interest and have no repayment terms. 
 
During the year the College paid $12 in rent to DIA Management Group Ltd. This transaction is 
in the normal course of business and is measured at the exchange amount agreed to by both 
parties. 
 

  

Page 24 of 85



 

 
12

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
6.  Capital assets 2013 2012 
   Accumulated Net Net 
  Cost Depreciation Book Value Book Value 
 
Computer hardware 
Computer software 
Furniture and fixtures 
Office equipment 
Renovations and leasehold 
 improvements 
Lower level renovations 

$ 24,622 
 52,500 
 1,926 
 58,220 
  
 110,568 
 147,538 

$ 16,319 
 30,900 
 1,926 
 28,329 
 
 97,208 
 16,903 

$ 8,303 
 21,600 
 - 
 29,891 
 
 13,360 
 130,635 

$ 2,664 
 32,100 
 385 
 34,515 
 
 31,232 
 10,745 

 $ 395,374 $ 191,585 $ 203,789 $ 111,641 
 
 
Breakdown of depreciation expense is as follows: 
  
     2013   2012  
    Budget Actual Actual 
    (Note 12) 
 
 Depreciation – computer hardware 
 Depreciation – office equipment 
 Depreciation – computer software 
 Depreciation – renovations and leasehold  
  improvements 
 Depreciation – lower level renovations 

$ 1,500 
 7,000 
 10,000 
  
 21,500 
 - 

$ 2,138 
 5,284 
 10,500 
  
 21,826 
 15,828 

$ 2,647 
 5,022 
 10,500 
  
 21,538 
 1,075 

 
 

$ 40,000 $ 55,576 $ 40,782 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
7.  Investment in DIA Management Group Ltd. 
 
The College controls 100% of DIA Management Group Ltd. (DIA). DIA was incorporated under 
the Corporations Act of Manitoba of March 26, 1991 with its primary business activities being 
property management. DIA has not been consolidated in the College’s financial statements. 
The College is accounting for its investment in DIA using the equity method where the shares 
of income or losses are recorded as part of the cost of the investment. Financial statements of 
DIA are available on request. 
 
Financial summaries of this unconsolidated entity as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 
2012 and for the years then ended are as follows: 
 
  2013  2012 

 
Financial position 
 Total assets 
 Total liabilities 
 

 
$ 286,476 
 (211,620) 

 
$ 289,450 
 (211,619) 

Total net assets $ 74,856 $ 77,831 
 
Results of operations 
 Total revenues 
 Total expenses 
 

 
$ 12 
 (2,986) 

 
$ 12 
 (2,743) 

Excess of revenue over expenses $ (2,974) $ (2,731) 
 
Cash flows 
 Cash from operating activities 
 Cash from investing activities 
 Cash from financing activities 
 

 
$ (2,974) 
 - 
 - 

 
$ (2,731) 
 - 
 - 

Increase (decrease) in cash flows $ (2,974) $ (2,731) 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
8.  Internally restricted net assets 
 
Certain net assets of the College were internally restricted for legal defence purposes 
($50,000), lower level renovations ($140,000) and information technology risk analysis and 
network assessment ($29,200). The College spent all internally restricted funds related to the 
lower level renovations ($140,000) and the information technology risk analysis and network 
assessment ($29,200) during the year. 
 
 
 
9.  Deferred income 
      2013   2012 

Fees 
M3P 
Smoking Cessation Program Grant 
ICPD-OMFC Project 
District 5 NABP Study Grant 
 

$ 1,566,951 
 188,789 
 29,735 
 3,337 
 1,014 

$ 1,479,809 
 215,769 
 - 
 3,371 
 1,014 

Net contributions deferred $ 1,789,826 $ 1,699,963 
 
Manitoba Prescribing Practices Program (M3P) is composed of the following cumulative to 
date amounts: 
 
Contributions received $ 667,486 

 
$ 628,235 
 

Expenses 
 Administrative staff 
 Distribution 
 Equipment use 
 Group insurance 
 Occupancy 
 Prescription forms 
 Professional consulting 
 

 
 163,996 
 35,130 
 1,380 
 16,538 
 44,700 
 209,491 
 7,462 
 

 
 144,055 
 30,958 
 1,380 
 14,097 
 37,200 
 177,787 
 6,989 
 

 $ 478,697 $ 412,466 
 
Net contributions deferred 

 
$ 188,789 

 
$ 215,769 

 
Smoking Cessation Program is composed of the following cumulative to date amounts: 
 
Contributions received $ 30,000 

 
$ - 
 

Expenses 
 Meetings 

 
$ 265 

 
$ - 

 
Net contributions deferred 

 
$ 29,735 

 
$ - 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
9.  Deferred income (continued) 
 
ICPD-OMFC Project is composed on the following cumulative to date amounts: 
 
Contributions received $ 18,337 $ 18,337 
 
Expenses 
 Consulting 
 Miscellaneous 
 Professional fees 
 Salary 

 
 
 11,417 
 603 
 2,874 
 106 

 
 
 11,417 
 569 
 2,874 
 106 

 $ 15,000 $ 14,966 
 
Net contributions deferred 

 
$ 3,337 

 
$ 3,371 

 
District 5 NABP Study Grant program is composed of the following cumulative to date 
amounts: 
 
Contributions received $ 3,587 $ 3,587 
 
Expenses 
 Administrative staff 
 Survey 
 Training 

 
 
 338 
 735 
 1,500 

 
 
 338 
 735 
 1,500 

 $ 2,573 $ 2,573 
 
Net contributions deferred 

 
$ 1,014 

 
$ 1,014 

 
 
 
10.  Financial instruments risks 
 
The College is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a 
comprehensive risk management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The 
following analysis provides information about the College’s risk exposure and concentrations as 
of December 31, 2013. 
 

(a) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The 
College is exposed to credit risk from members. The College has minimized concentration 
for credit risk because the members are required to pay the dues in order to continue the 
membership.  
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
December 31, 2013 
 
 
10.  Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or expected future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three 
types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk. The College is mainly 
exposed to interest rate risk and other price risk. 

 
(i) Interest rate risk  

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely 
affected by a change in the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest 
rate fluctuations, the College manages exposure through its normal operating and 
financing activities. The College is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its 
marketable securities.  

 
(ii) Other price risk 

 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest 
rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial 
instruments traded in the market. 

 
 
 
11.  Operating lease commitment 
 
The College entered into a mailing equipment lease in 2013. The College’s total future 
minimum lease payments under operating lease commitments for the next five years are as 
follows: 
 
    2014 
    2015 
    2016 
    2017 
    2018 

$ 5,987 
 5,987 
 5,987 
 5,987 
 5,987 

 
 

 
 

 
$ 29,935 

 
 

 
 
12.  Budget 
 
The budget figures, which are presented for comparison purposes only are unaudited. 
 
 
13.  Subsequent event 
 
Under the Pharmaceutical Act  proclaimed January 1, 2014, the name of the Manitoba 
Pharmaceutical Association changed to the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba. 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Non-Consolidated Schedule of Operations Expenses 
Year Ended December 31, 2013 
 
 
     2013   2012  
    Budget Actual Actual 
    (Note 12) 
Operations expenses 
 Annual meeting 
 Assistant registrar’s expenses 
 Complaints committee 
 Contributions – Library fund 
 Contributions - sundry 
 Council meetings 
 Deputy registrar’s expenses 
 Discipline – legal 
 Discipline committee 
 District meetings 
 Executive meetings 
 Faculty of Pharmacy levy 
 Field operations 
 General and special meetings 
 Grads’ ceremony 
 Medals and awards 
 NAPRA delegates 
 NAPRA levy 
 Other conference and travel 
 Other meetings 
 President’s honorarium 
 Registrar’s expenses 
 Regulation implementation costs 
 Young leaders awards 
 

 
$ 13,000 
 3,000 
 7,000
 -
 2,500 
 50,000 
 2,000 
 50,000 
 10,000 
 2,500 
 10,000 
 142,700 
 8,000 
 7,500 
 4,000 
 13,000 
 9,000 
 63,755 
 20,000 
 10,000 
 6,600
 3,250 
 50,000 
 2,500 
  

 
$ 10,205 
 1,110 
 28,583 
 900 
 2,025 
 41,494 
 223 
 102,774 
 6,141 
 1,939 
 9,069 
 146,700 
 9,597 
 1,442 
 4,000 
 13,205 
 5,545 
 63,755 
 20,663 
 3,021 
 6,600 
 2,029 
 35,340 
 1,600 

 
$ 14,658 
 1,448 
 11,374
 400
 1,426 
 51,344 
 1,276 
 115,387 
 7,803 
 - 
 9,949 
 145,800 
 6,055 
 3,850 
 4,000 
 15,317 
 7,980 
 62,200 
 13,465 
 8,480
 6,600
 3,579 
 - 
 1,496
 

 $ 490,305 $ 517,960 $ 493,887 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 
Non-Consolidated Schedule of Administrative Expenses 
and Professional Development 
Year Ended December 31, 2013 
 
 
     2013   2012  
    Budget Actual Actual 
    (Note 12) 
Administrative expenses 
 Bad debt 
 Bank and credit card charges 
 Building – heat 
 Building – insurance 
 Buidling – light and water 
 Building – maintenance and repairs 
 Building – rent and taxes (Note 5) 
 Canada Pension Plan 
 Communication resource 
 Computer and information technology 
 Delivery 
 Dues and subscriptions 
 Employment insurance 
 Equipment maintenance 
 External affairs 
 Human resource management 
 Insurance – group and liability 
 Pension plan (Note 3) 
 Postage  
 Printing and supplies 
 Professional fees 
 Project management consultant 
 Salaries (Note 3) 
 Staff development 
 Sundry 
 Telephone 

 
$ - 
 32,000 
 3,800 
 4,000 
 6,600 
 20,000 
 21,000 
 20,500
 60,000 
 15,000 
 2,000 
 4,500 
 11,500 
 7,500
 20,000 
 10,000 
 46,500
 39,270 
 13,000 
 10,000 
 64,000 
 - 
 679,417
 5,000 
 4,000 
 11,000 
  

 
$ 5,000 
 41,627 
 2,524 
 3,610 
 5,639 
 27,355 
 21,393 
 22,368 
 21,843 
 29,281 
 1,225 
 4,764 
 11,309 
 3,274 
 13,563 
 2,256 
 51,950 
 35,440 
 18,468 
 10,736 
 52,341 
 8,914 
 738,922 
 2,180 
 3,264 
 8,644 
 

 
$ - 
 44,454 
 1,878 
 3,398 
 5,531 
 25,403 
 20,703 
 19,984
 5,371 
 10,549 
 1,669 
 3,359 
 11,883 
 3,592
 13,708 
 8,163 
 47,184
 36,922 
 18,139 
 12,500 
 70,587 
 35,675 
 652,928
 384 
 3,941 
 8,967 
 

 
 

$ 1,110,587 $ 1,147,890 $ 1,066,872 

Professional development 
 Program 
 

 
$ 27,500 
 

  
$ 34,045 
 

  
$ 29,650 
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Registrar's Report 

to The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba Annual Meeting 

Saturday, April 26th, 2014 

 
This report contains the noted activities of the College and staff for 2013 and early 2014. 

 

Proclamation and Implementation of the December 2006 Pharmaceutical Act  

The Act was proclaimed and the practice of pharmacy in Manitoba was brought under the 

December 2006 Pharmaceutical Act on January 1st, 2014. The Manitoba Pharmaceutical 

Association, established in 1878, is now the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba. Due to the 

workload for this activity being crunched into 4Q2013 and mostly the month of December, the 

College has not been able to get as many documents created, transitioned or discontinued under 

the, not so, new legislation. Much recognition and appreciation goes to Ms. Donna Hill 

(Executive Director, Legislative Unit of Manitoba Health), Ms. Val Perry (Senior Legislative 

Counsel at Manitoba Justice), Mr. Bayne Robertson (Project Manager) and Mr. Kyle MacNair 

(President, College of Pharmacists of Manitoba) for bringing this project to completion. Many 

hands have touched this project along the way, but these individuals were the ones that brought it 

to completion. 

 

The tasks associated with the proclamation have been all-consuming of council, committees and 

office staff in the last 12 months. As a result, some of the committees and projects not directly 

related to the regulatory/proclamation work did not progress for several months in 2013. The 

office may have missed some e-mails and telephone inquires into the office, or responded with a 

longer than usual delay. The December 2006 Pharmaceutical Act was a large change to the 

practice of pharmacy in Manitoba, the largest in recent history, and maybe in the 135 years of the 

organization. It was a “re-set button” for the profession and the operational work was carried 

principally by the present level of staff, with some much needed help of consultants and contract 

people.  

 

To describe and discuss the changes to practice, the Orientation Manual has been a great help for 

pharmacists and all readers to understand the new areas of practice and changes to the previous 

areas of practice. Pharmacist, Ronda Eros, was the principle author of the manual and did an 

excellent job. The manual is being updated with new information and should be referenced on a 

regular basis.  

 

The "Administration of Drugs by Injection" training program prepared pharmacists to administer 

injections. Pharmacists for the first time in the province provided the administration of drug 

through injection soon after the proclamation of the legislation and College’s issuance of 

certificates. The background and drafting work was completed at the end of January for the "Self 

Limiting Conditions" training/professional development program and pharmacists are completing 

this program in order to prescribe Schedule 3 drugs (to the pharmaceutical regulations). As a 

result of the new legislation, pharmacists are now defined as a “practitioner” in the province and 

included as “prescriber” under the Drug Programs Information Network (DPIN). The DPIN 

number is the pharmacist licence number from the College, proceeded by an “X”. Manitoba 

Health moved quickly to make this change, and Ms. Kathy MacDonald at Manitoba Health was a 

key component of bringing this process to a conclusion.  

 

Several Practice Directions were drafted in advance of the proclamation to enable implementation 

soon after. The approved and drafted practice directions are posted on the College website and 

updates are announced to the pharmacists at regular intervals. Much appreciation goes to Mr. 
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Kurt Schroeder (Chair, Standards of Practice), the College staff involved with this committee, 

Mr. Todd Mereniuk (Assistant Registrar) and Ms. Kathy Wright (Executive Assistant), as well as 

the content writers and researchers. Without their commitment to process, content and detail, the 

activity would not have proceeded as well as it did. 

 

Work is continuing on the development of application forms and certificates required under the 

new legislation. The College website is constantly being reviewed and updated. Members have 

been identifying areas that need further updating with the needed changes and updates being 

prioritized and addressed accordingly. 

 

Important new components to the annual pharmacist licensing process are, requirements of a 

criminal record check, child abuse registry check and an adult abuse registry check. These 

requirements will be the same for all health professionals in the province. For currently licensed 

pharmacists, these requirements have been phased in and were not required for the 2014 license. 

But be advised, members should not leave these required checks until the last minute. The checks 

will be required to be updated on an ongoing five year cycle. 

 

At the time of writing this report, work is continuing in several areas: 

 Community Laboratories Policy Advisory Committee hosted by Manitoba Health to 

continue the discussion for implementation of pharmacist ordering tests and the creation 

of a provincial wide “Pharmacy Laboratory Requisition Form.”  

 Pharmacists’ access to information and data input in the Manitoba Immunization 

Monitoring System (MIMS) in support of the safe implementation of pharmacist 

administering drugs (vaccines) through injection. Further information is still needed with 

respect to the billing process for pharmacist doing the administration.  

 College Internship Manual is being updated and is close to completion. 

 Jurisprudence exams have been created for use by applicant pharmacists at either entry to 

practice or through the Mobility Agreement. 

 Development of a structured practice training and jurisprudence requirements for 

pharmacy technician. 

 Further development of new practice directions and the review of the (old) standards of 

practice, accepted “as is” practice directions.  

 

The Code of Ethics of The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba was substantially revised when it 

was approved by the members at the Annual General Meeting on April 12th, 2012. This new Code 

of Ethics will come into effect January 1st, 2014 with the proclamation of the December 2006 

Pharmaceutical Act. The Code of Ethics consists of ten Statements that express in broad terms 

the values of ideal practice and the norms of professional practice. Since the concepts are in some 

respects abstract, the statements have now been grounded and clarified in and “Explanatory 

Document” that includes descriptors called “obligations”. The obligations provide examples of 

how the ethical statements might apply in pharmacy practice.  This Explanatory Document was 

approved by Council on February 10, 2014 and is now posted at the College website. 

 

The provincial chapter of the Canadian Association of Pharmacy Technicians (CAPT) was 

invited to appoint a Pharmacy Technician liaison position on Council. At the time of writing this 

report, the person had not, as yet, been identified. Pharmacy Assistants wishing to pursue courses 

as part of the National Pharmacy Technician Bridging Education Program can access information 

such as course dates, registration deadlines and educational institution contact information 

on the NAPRA website.  
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NAPRA Gateway Project for International Pharmacy Graduate Applicants 

The Gateway project will streamline and centralize the process for registration of International 

Pharmacy graduates (IPG’s). The National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities 

(NAPRA) pilot test for the Gateway Project was delayed and had not occurred at the time of 

writing this report. The intent of the program is to relieve some of the IPG registration and 

licensing workload in provincial pharmacy offices and add more national consistency for this 

process. There remains a large workload with IPGs coming into Manitoba for assessment of 

Entry to Practice competencies and credentials. The Chair of the Board of Examiners will report 

the exact details on the numbers of IPGs registered and licensed in Manitoba during the past year. 

Most of the new IPG registrants do not practice in Manitoba, but return mostly to Ontario to 

begin practice in that province.  

 

Regulated Health Professions Act (RHPA) 

The RHPA, as proclaimed by the Government of Manitoba, will replace the current separate 

legislative acts of all regulated health professions in Manitoba. Each profession will also have its 

own "profession specific" regulations under the RHPA. This legislation ensures all health 

professions in Manitoba are governed by consistent, uniform regulations with a focus on patient 

safety. The College of Audiologists and Speech Language Pathologists of Manitoba was the first 

health profession regulator to come under the RHPA on January 1st, 2014. The College of Physicians 

and Surgeons of Manitoba and the College of Registered Nurses of Manitoba are continuing their 

work to come under the RHPA. To this end, both organizations have been and will be posting draft 

documents for consultation on their respective websites.  

 

The College of Pharmacists of Manitoba will also need to be brought under the RHPA in the near 

future and we will be discussing a proposed timeline with the Minister of Health.  

 

Electronic Transmission of Prescriptions and “fax” prescriptions  

The College of Physicians and Surgeons (CPSM), the College of Registered Nurses of Manitoba 

(CRNM), the Manitoba Dental Association and the Manitoba Veterinary Medical Association and 

the MPhA/College agreed to the version of the Electronic Transmission of Prescriptions and the 

Facsimile Prescriptions joint statements early in 2013. The implementation date for these 

documents was on April 1st, 2013. The follow-up “Q&A” posted on the College of Pharmacists' 

website has been most helpful for the implementation. 

 

Pharm. D. Program 

Very preliminary discussions have occurred between the Minister of Health and President 

MacNair in regard to implementing an entry to practice Pharm. D. Program in Manitoba and a 

bridging program of B. Sc. Pharm. graduates. The College was asked in early 2013 to provide a 

briefing note for the Minister about this issue (relating to the practice of pharmacy and meeting 

the patient care needs under the new legislation). The pharmacy undergraduate program at the 

Faculty will have a tough time keeping all of the current curriculum while adding teachings and 

training for the new practice additions in a one plus four year program. Discussions will continue 

with the University Administration and the Minister of Health regarding the issue of a Pharm. D. 

Program and bridging program at the University of Manitoba.  

 

Manitoba Monitored Drugs Review Committee (MMDRC)  

Changes to the province's Prescription Drugs Cost Assistance Act in 2012 strengthened the 

monitoring of the prescribing and dispensing of narcotics and other controlled drugs through the 

MMDRC. The Terms of Reference for MMDRC have been approved and the first meeting 

occurred on February 1st, 2013. The meetings have been convened throughout the year and the 

first correspondence from the Committee to certain prescribers and certain dispensers occurred in 
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1Q2014. Thank you to pharmacists Ms. Cali Orsulak, who serves on the MMDRC, and Dr. Brent 

Booker, on the MMDRC subcommittee doing the actual reviews, for their time and commitment 

to this important activity. 

 

International Prescription Service (IPS) Pharmacy 

At the time of writing this report, the lawsuit filed against the MPhA/College by some current and 

former holders of IPS Pharmacy licenses remains outstanding. As a reminder, the lawsuit claims 

the MPhA had no authority to require an IPS component of a pharmacy license, and if it can be 

shown the authority did exist, then the lawsuit alleges that MPhA has charged an unreasonable 

amount for the IPS component.  

 

College legal council has made some progress in bringing this matter to an amicable close. 

Further updates will be provided to the members at the Annual General Meeting.  

 

Entry to Practice Competencies for Pharmacists and Technicians 

The National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA) recently approved the 

Entry to Practice Competencies for pharmacists and a separate set of competencies for pharmacy 

technicians. By the time the Annual General Meeting occurs, the documents will be posted on the 

NAPRA website. 

 

“.pharmacy” approved 

The National (American) Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP) had confirmed the Internet 

Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (ICANN) has granted NABP the registry 

operation rights for the “.pharmacy” generic Top-Level Domain. Over the next year(s), NABP 

will be working with its international partners to use this authority to create safe places for 

consumers to purchase medications through the internet. NAPRA is a key stakeholder in this 

process and have appointed me as their representative on the steering committee. This item will 

be discussed further at meetings in Chicago during the summer months. 

 

District Five National Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP)/American Association of 

Colleges of Pharmacy (AACP) 2013 Meeting 

The MPhA/College and the Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba hosted the District Five 

NABP/AACP meetings in Winnipeg on August 8th to 10th, 2013. The meetings were held at the 

Inn at the Forks and were a great success. The final accounting is being produced at the time of 

filing this report, but should result in a surplus of approximately $3,500. The surplus is used in 

support of the District and research projects. A huge thank you to Ms. Kathy Wright, Executive 

Assistant to the Registrar and Ms. Stacey Hjorleifson, Administrative Secretary for their support 

and organization skills. The local funders of the event were Wal-mart (Canada), Manitoba 

Society of Pharmacists, University of Manitoba, Shoppers Drug Mart, Target Pharmacies and the 

College of Pharmacists of Manitoba. The funding was the sales received from US based 

companies and that information is available through the District Five website. 

 

Update on 200 Tache Avenue 

The renovation of the lower level is complete, save for a few finishing touches and an 

audio/visual system for the Council Meeting room. Even with all the activity in the office, Kathy 

Wright, Executive Assistant to the Registrar, has made certain this project was completed on time 

and able to convene the June 2013 Council meeting therein. Much recognition and appreciation is 

due to Kathy for all her great work and to the team of people she had working on this project. 

 

Mrs. Irene Lewis, a friend of MPhA/College and the sister of the late 50-year member and 

Faculty of Pharmacy Professor, Dr. Roman Bilous, had previously left sufficient funds for MPhA 

Page 35 of 85



 

 

 

to redo the front of the building in memory of her brother. This was completed this past summer 

and a memorial plaque will be set in place to recognize Dr. Bilous and the donation.  

 

Manitoba Health – Medicine, Nursing and Pharmacy Regulators Liaison Committee  

Manitoba Health has convened a committee of the Medicine, Nursing and Pharmacy Regulators. 

The first meeting occurred on January 30th, 2014. Terms of Reference were approved and the 

mandate is described as, 

 

“For the purpose of discussion between Manitoba Health and Regulators of Medicine, Nursing 

and Pharmacy, where mutual topics of interest and discussion can be undertaken and with a 

focus on broad patient care and pharmaceutical-related policy issues, identifying best practices, 

gaps and solutions.”  

 

It is through this committee that issues such as Medical Use Marihuana and Drug Shortages will 

be addressed. 

 

Comprehensive IT Risk Analysis and Network Assessment 

The College contracted EPIC IT Solutions to complete a comprehensive IT Risk Analysis and 

Network Assessment. The work was completed in late 2013 with the report and recommendations 

presented to Council at the February 2014 meeting. Council reviewed the document and the 

recommendation for an implementation plan, as drafted by the Registrar. 

 

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Manitoba (CPSM) Resident Prescribing Policy 

The College of Pharmacists has been working with the CPSM regarding the ability for graduates 

of the Faculty of Medicine to prescribe (non-M3P) narcotics. This is during the second year of the 

residency training program, prior to being fully licensed by CPSM. This would negate the need 

for a co-signature by the supervising physician. This would be allowed under the federal 

legislation, but will need a change in provincial regulations governing the practice of medicine. 

The changes will take place likely later in 2014 and pharmacists will receive advance warning 

when the change occurs.  

 

National Ad hoc Committee on Pharmacy Compounding  

The review of the current National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA) 

Compounding Guidelines was initiated by the Council of Pharmacy Registrars of Canada (CPRC) 

in spring 2013. However, due to the incorrect IV preparation dosing incidents in Ontario and New 

Brunswick, CPRC recommended to the NAPRA Board that there is a greater urgency to review 

and develop standards The NAPRA Board has agreed. At the November 2nd, 2013, meeting, the 

Board made this work a priority and has established and funded a National Ad hoc Committee to 

do so. 

 

The Board approved the following:  

1. Place this undertaking at the top of the project priorities for 2014  

2. Approve the proposed Terms of Reference of a national ad hoc committee on Pharmacy 

Compounding and the financial and resource commitment by NAPRA (estimated at 

around $46,000 to $50,000 plus the cost of translation for the recently drafted Quebec 

standards)  

3. Appoint the four (4) CPRC members and two (2) practicing pharmacists (the latter 

through delegation and subsequent ratification by Executive Committee) to the ad hoc 

Committee on Pharmacy Compounding.  

4. Appoint the Chair of the ad hoc Committee.  
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The Registrars appointed to the ad hoc committee are Marshall Moleschi (ON), Bob Nakagawa 

(BC), Susan Wedlake (NS) and Ronald Guse (MB, Chair).  

 

The work will be based on the Quebec provincial sterile compounding standards recently 

approved by their Council. A consultant was hired by NAPRA and their work began in earnest. 

The plan is to have a draft document for the review of the NAPRA Board at the April meeting.  

 

Manitoba Institute for Patient Safety (MIPS)  

The College is a premier/founding member of MIPS and supported the Registrar to participate on 

the initial Board, as appointed by the Minister of Health. In subsequent years, I have been elected 

to the Board and now in my tenth year on the Board. In addition to Board responsibilities, I was 

re-elected as Vice Chair of the Board and remain on the Executive Committee. The Chair of the 

Board is Ms. Jan Currie, as appointed by the Minster of Health. The Board has recently 

concluded a strategic planning session and posted some of the results on the website.  

 

Further information about the great work of MIPS is available through their website at: 

www.mips.ca. 

 

Manitoba Prescribing Practices Program (M3P) 

The government continues to receive services from the College with respect to the administration 

of the Manitoba Prescribing Practices Program. The volume of work is increasing with the 

increase of prescribers authorized to issue M3P forms. During 2014, the College will be 

providing a proposal to Manitoba Health for the review of the program’s roles and 

responsibilities. The College files quarterly financial statements for the funds received from 

Manitoba Health in support of the M3P program. 

 

The year 2013 saw the addition of nurse practitioners to the program. The College of Registered 

Nurses approved 68 prescribers for the M3P program as they successfully met the requirements to 

have the restrictions on their prescribing rights lifted.  

 

During 2013, 8,171 M3P prescriptions pads were distributed in response to 1874 physicians’, 61 

nurse practitioners’ 14 dentists’ and 5 veterinarians’ requests. This is a 1.4% increase over 2012. 

The pads were ordered mostly through facsimile requests and secondarily through e-mail and 

telephone transmission. Also, 41 “emergency pads” were issued by the College to prescribers 

who failed to reorder their forms in a timely manner. Further information can be seen in the 

College financial statement in the annual report booklet.  

 

Committee Work and Teaching at the Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba 

Over the many years the MPhA/College has enjoyed and benefited from a close partnership with 

the Faculty of Pharmacy at the University of Manitoba. The College staff regularly participates 

and contributes to the course content and teaching responsibilities for the pharmacy practice 

jurisprudence section of the Pharmacy Skills Laboratory as offered in second year of the 

undergraduate program. However, unfortunately due to workload, the College office will not be 

able to coordinate and teach the fourth year course, "Current Topics". This responsibility has 

been returned to the Faculty of Pharmacy and other arrangements have been made. 

 

White Coat Ceremony 

On September 30th, 2013, I was asked to be a guest speaker at the White Coat Ceremony. This 

ceremony is hosted by the Dean of the Faculty of Pharmacy and welcomes the students into the 

Faculty. The students’ passage into the being of their professional is formally recognized through 

the presentation and draping of a white coat by one of the esteemed pharmacists.  
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Staff changes at the College 

This past fall, the College hired Mr. Todd Mereniuk as the new Assistant Registrar in charge of 

field operations. Todd was employed with Sobeys as their Regional Director. He joined the 

College at a critical time as we moved into the expanded scope under the new legislation. Todd 

was previously active on the College committees, most notably the Standards of Practice 

Committee. While in the process of hiring Mr. Mereniuk, we were fortunate to have attained the 

services of Ms. Ronda Eros as our Professional Practice Consultant. Ronda did continue to 

provide contract services, as referenced earlier in this report, even after Mr. Mereniuk joined the 

staff. 

 

In closing, 

This Annual General Meeting will mark the first meeting of the College of Pharmacists of 

Manitoba. After 135 years of the Manitoba Pharmaceutical Association, we have turned the page 

(the concept that was first discussed with then President, Ron Eros in 2000). Ron was also the 

first President to seriously begin the discussion with the pharmacists of Manitoba about expanded 

scope of practice and new legislation. The legislation took five (5) years to complete and the 

passing of the legislation was under the close oversight of then President, Pat Trozzo. At the third 

reading of the Legislature, a very unusual event occurred in the Minister of Health. On behalf of 

the government of Manitoba, the Minister of Health accepted some of the amendments put forth 

by minority party members of the Legislature. This amended legislation required the pharmacists 

of Manitoba to approve the regulations before being forwarded to the Lieutenant Governor in 

Council. President Trozzo and the MPhA worked hard to confirm the support of pharmacists for 

the 2008 version of the regulations, but the document was not passed by the members. The 

provincial government made PricewaterhouseCooper available to do a “capacity” review of the 

MPhA (this review took many months to complete). However, under the Presidency of Shawn 

Bugden, the members passed the regulations document and the Code of Ethics. Those regulations 

were not in the format or of the content that the government could pass. This caused President, 

Kyle MacNair to lead the creation of still another set of regulations that the members would 

support and the government could approve in order to proclaim the December 2006 

Pharmaceutical Act. The task was brought to completion on January 1st, 2014. Much like the 

purchase of the new Pharmacy House building in 2009, this major achievement would not have 

been possible without several key individuals along the way, a solid corporate history of 

credibility, trust and perseverance.  

 

It has been a pleasure to work with President MacNair, the other Executive Officers and Council 

over this past year. In turn, their support, guidance and thoughtful deliberations have been very 

helpful for me in the performance of my duties as Registrar. This Annual General Meeting will 

mark the end of Kyle’s term as President. He was the right person for the job over the last two 

years and shoulders much of the responsibility and credit leading to the government passing the 

regulations proclaiming the legislation. 

Leading up to and since the proclamation of the legislation, the staff at the College has been 

exceptional in the work ethic, focus on quality, public protection and the completion of day to day 

activities needed in support of the new legislation. 

 

Todd Mereniuk, Assistant Registrar, has recently joined the College staff and has settled into his 

role and responsibilities extremely well. Kim McIntosh, Assistant Registrar, as well as her overall 

impressive work during this and every year, used her creativity and talents to develop two 

professional development training programs to meet the needs of enhancing the knowledge and 

abilities of pharmacists to provide care under the new legislation. Kim will be recognized in the 

awards ceremony, and rightfully so. Susan Lessard-Friesen, Deputy Registrar, filled in many of 

the gaps at the College office while I was knee-deep in regulation review and development. This 
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work was in addition to her heavy workload as described in her report to the Annual General 

Meeting. Kathy Wright, Executive Assistant to the Registrar, has created an environment of 

improved efficiency and productivity in the office with her personal commitment and the 

oversight of the Administrative staff. Her support for me in the performance of my duties has 

kept me slightly above the “paper line”, which could have easily seen me drowning in the 

workload. My long standing fellow-employee Ms. Bev Robinson, Administrative Assistant, has 

been the consummate employee of the College and her talents and abilities have been a critical 

component to getting the necessary administrative support for the new legislation. Ms. Lita 

Hnatiuk, Communications Coordinator and Quality Assurance Secretary, had grown into her role 

and her expertise is displayed through the quality of the Friday Five and the College newsletter. 

Ms. Stacey Hjorleifson, Administrative Secretary to the College, does a great job making certain 

the administrative control is maintained for the M3P and the day to day life of meetings, 

meetings, meetings at the College office. Rem Weiss and Ronda Eros joined our team over the 

past year and their professional and competent help was greatly appreciated. We now will have a 

term receptionist on staff, and I thank Council for their approval of this term position. 

 

Finally, it is important to thank an exceptional person who is not a pharmacist or on staff at this 

College, and will be leaving his job at the end of the year. Dr. William Pope, Registrar with the 

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Manitoba (CPSM). He has been my colleague and key 

support person during some of the challenges in my role at the MPhA, (now College). Bill will be 

retiring at the end of 2014 and his work and leadership at the CPSM will be greatly missed, and 

we will miss him at the College of Pharmacists. With his knowledge and experience, and that of 

Ms. Diane Wilson-Mate, Executive Director of the College of Registered Nurses, I could not 

have asked for a better and more dynamic duo of support and collaboration for my work at the 

College of Pharmacists. Diane and I will continue this important collaboration with the new 

CPSM Registrar once named late in the year. 

 

The College continues to very well served by its legal counsel, Mr. David Marr and Mr. Joseph 

Pollock. David and Joey are always available for needed support and trusted opinions. 

 

The pharmacists of Manitoba have moved very well into the new scope and the new challenges 

that come with the enhanced scope. The ultimate benefactors will be the patients they serve and 

the public of Manitoba. I am impressed with the provision of care already seen under the new 

legislation. In addition, the members have been very understanding when I have responded to 

their questions, e-mails, letters and messages in a less then timely manner. It is not for a desire to 

be slow to respond, it has been a matter of workload and volume. My final note of appreciation, 

therefore, goes to the members for their support and patience in the conduct of my duties. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Ronald Guse, Registrar  
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University of Manitoba Faculty of Pharmacy 

Student Registration in 2013 
 

Three-hundred and twenty (320) applications were received to enter first-year pharmacy for the 

2013-2014 sessions. The following students were accepted: 
 

Mariam Ahmed 

Sneha Anchan 

Mohamad Al-Biaty 

Raveen Boparai 

Tegpreet Brar 

Stephanie Bryant 

Kirsten Chale 

Nahyun Chapman 

Sonia Charran 

Danielle Chu 

Arianna Crowe 

Huynh Dang 

Artem Denysenko 

Paolo Endrinal 

Jenny Fehr 

Joseph Quirino Gille 

Patricia Gorczyca 

Kyle Hancock 

Erika Hartel 

Taira Hill 

Jennifer Hlynsky 

Jessica Holben 

Leigh Horncastle 

Katherine Jantz 

Celine Jimenez 

Emily Kaminsky 

Dana Kowal 

Blake Kummen 

Michael Lachowicz 

Cole Lane 

David Le 

Gregory Longbottom 

Vivian Luo 

Craig Manns 

Taylor McVannel 

Concessa Mukarushema 

Alan Phung 

Oscar Quach 

Janelle Quintana 

Jennifer Richelle 

Brooke Robertson 

Brett Roeland 

Nicholas Rusnick 

Aakanksha Sharma 

Travis Sinclair 

Meredith Spryszak 

Kathleen Stovel 

Katlyn Taylor 

Alyssa Tilley 

Nathaniel Tolentino 

Jackson Tran 

Jessica Truong 

Scott Van 

Lyndon Walker 

Bingjie Wang 

 
Registration of Graduates from the  

University of Manitoba Faculty of Pharmacy in 2013 
 

ALVERO, Lindsay August 15, 2013 

ANDRESEN, Scott July 31, 2013 

BACON, Allison July 8, 2013 

BALL, Brendan July 8, 2013 

BLAHEY-HASAY, Renata August 22, 2013 

BRANDT, Jaden August 21, 2013 

CHEUNG, Jessica July 16, 2013 

CHEUNG, Magkie July 8, 2013 

CHU, Aaron July 8, 2013 

DANG, My July 9, 2013 

DASH, Alicia July 8, 2013 

DAVEY, Garrett December 17, 2013 

DUPONT, Christopher August 13, 2013 

EVANS, Carrie July 8, 2013 

FRIESEN, Nathan July 8, 2013 

GALVIN, Kimberly July 8, 2013 

GIANNUZZI, Michael July 8, 2013 

HOTEL, Cody July 8, 2013 

HOULIND, Kurtis July 8, 2013 

HUANG, Chelsea July 8, 2013 

HUYBER, Michelle August 6, 2013 

KROEKER, Zachary July 19, 2013 

KYRZYK, Daniel July 8, 2013 

LAWSON, Christopher August 7, 2013 

LE, Dennis July 9, 2013 

LEWIS, Stephen July 8, 2013 

LINDSAY, Bryn December 17, 2013 

MACPHEE, Heather December 23, 2013 

MANULAK, Justine August 19, 2013 

MCCULLOCH, Alisha July 11, 2013 

MESSINBIRD, Nicole July 8, 2013 

NAHNYBIDA, Alexandra July 8, 2013 

NASH, Jordan July 17, 2013 

NELSON, Kristin July 8, 2013 

PATTI, Naresh July 8, 2013 

POLLOCK, Carolanne July 8, 2013 

ROEHL, Katelyn July 8, 2013 

ROSS, Devin August 6, 2013 

SAMRA, Parveen August 12, 2013 

SANCHEZ, Myralie July 8, 2013 

SCHAMBER, Abbey July 8, 2013 

SIDHU, Pawandeep July 10, 2013 

SMALL, Robyn July 8, 2013 

SMITH, Sara August 21, 2013 

STROEDER, Sarah July 10, 2013 

TAKLA, Mark August 29, 2013 

TRAN, Linda July 9, 2013 

TROTT, Graham July 8, 2013 

VUONG, Lucy-Rose July 10, 2013 

WORSNOP, Lesley July 8, 2013 

YANKE, Ryan August 16, 2013 
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Registration of Graduates from Schools or Colleges 

Other than the University of Manitoba 

 
Name Country/Province, Year Registration Date 

ABD EL MALAK, Bassem Egypt, 1994 December 24, 2013 

ANTOUN, Emilie Egypt, 2012 May 27, 2013 

BABOORAM, Nivrrtee India, 2006 May 9, 2013 

BACKMAN, Beth Saskatchewan, 2004 July 9, 2013 

BARAHAN, Liza Philippines, 1983 February 6, 2013 

BASILY ABDU, Nelly Egypt, 1994 October 17, 2013 

BEBAWY, Albert Egypt, 2007 April 18, 2013 

CHOWDHURY, Kawshik Bangladesh, 2004 November 15, 2013 

CONCEPCION, Cristina Philippines, 1994 January 10, 2013 

CUU, Donald Australia, 2011 December 23, 2013 

DANIEL, Diana Egypt, 2002 August 27, 2013 

DEMIAN, Pola Egypt, 2004 December 23, 2013 

DIMETTRY, Diaa Egypt, 1993 May 9, 2013 

DOUS, Samuel Egypt, 2002 January 10, 2013 

EL FIZA, Mina Egypt, 2006 March 8, 2013 

FAHMI, Nancy Egypt, 2002 August 6, 2013 

FAYYAZ, Mahwish Pakistan, 2004 February 6, 2013 

FOUAD, Bassem Australia, 2011 October 1, 2013 

GAZI, Hamidur Bangladesh, 2005 August 6, 2013 

GHALY, Mariam Egypt, 2003 April 29, 2013 

HANNA, Andrew Egypt, 2009 May 9, 2013 

HAWKES, Patrick New Brunswick, 2012 April 4, 2013 

HENEIN, Faleh Egypt, 1991 February 6, 2013 

HUYBREGTS, Bethany Alberta, 2008 April 17, 2013 

IBRAHIM, Bishoy Australia, 2011 May 27, 2013 

IBRAHIM, Mina Egypt, 2006 May 27, 2013 

ISTAFANOUS, Ramez Egypt, 2003 January 16, 2013 

JAWANDA, Sandeep India, 2007 June 12, 2013 

JIRICKA, Katharine Saskatchewan, 2012 March 1, 2013 

LO, Devin Alberta, 2012 June 12, 2013 

McMILLAN, Kaitlyn Saskatchewan, 2011 March 18, 2013 

MIRZA, Hajra USA, 2009 October 15, 2013 

MOUSA, Moataz Egypt, 2007 July 4, 2013 

MOUSSA, Michael Egypt, 2005 September 10, 2013 

NASRALLA, Joseph Egypt, 2007 September 10, 2013 

NIJMEH, Abeer Jordan, 1986 August 27, 2013 

PANDYA, Ravi India, 2009 May 27, 2013 

PATEL, Jaimin India, 2011 September 20, 2013 

PATEL, Jigar India, 2005 October 21, 2013 

PATEL, Mahesh India, 1999 May 27, 2013 

PATEL, Swetaben India, 2005 January 15, 2013 

RAMI, Shraddha India, 2001 September 10, 2013 

REHMAN, Masood Pakistan, 1992 September 19, 2013 

REZK, Iriny Egypt, 1994 January 22, 2013 

RIZKALLA, Michael Egypt, 2006 August 6, 2013 

SAAD, Neveen Egypt, 2002 October 1, 2013 

SABER EID MAEIN, Mohamed Egypt, 1997 February 14, 2013 

SALIH, Dhawi Philippines, 2009 October 17, 2013 

SALIH, Muhannad Philippines, 2009 April 29, 2013 
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Name Country/Province, Year Registration Date 

SHEIKH, Imran Alberta, 2013 August 27, 2013 

SINGH, Vishav Partap India, 2009 May 31, 2013 

SOLTAN, Magy Egypt, 2003 February 6, 2013 

STRENGER, Kristyanne Saskatchewan, 2012 August 30, 2013 

TANG, Andrea Saskatchewan, 2013 September 19, 2013 

THAKKAR, Amitkumar India, 2009 February 6, 2013 

THAMSIRARAK, Yaowapa Thailand, 2006  June 12, 2013 

THOMAS, Aji India, 1993 August 14, 2013 

VALADKHANI, Farzad Iran, 1995 February 15, 2013 

WILNEFF, Daniel Nova Scotia, 2011 January 10, 2013 

ZAFAR, Samitah Pakistan, 1997 January 22, 2013 

ZIRAK, Zahra Iran, 1985 March 8, 2013 

 
New Pharmacies Opened 

(January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013) 

 

Pharmacy Name Location Date Opened 
Clinic One Pharmacy Winnipeg January 3, 2013 

Grand Medicine Health Sciences Pharmacy Winnipeg January 11, 2013 

Wal-Mart Pharmacy #1141 Steinbach January 25, 2013 

Pharmacie Labroquerie Pharmacy Labroquerie January 28, 2013 

Red River Pharmacy #3 Winnipeg March 4, 2013 

Target Pharmacy #3763 Brandon May 6, 2013 

Target Pharmacy #3644 Winnipeg May 7, 2013 

Target Pharmacy #3682 Winnipeg May 7, 2013 

Corydon Village Pharmacy Winnipeg May 7, 2013 

Ile-des-Chenes Pharmacy Ile-des-Chenes July 15, 2013 

Nations-First Pharmacy Pine Falls August 12, 2013 

Harbourview Pharmacy Winnipeg August 20, 2013 

Fort Alexander Pharmacy Fort Alexander September 2, 2013 

Morris Pharmacy Morris September 9, 2013 

Villagio Pharmacy St. Pierre-Jolys September 11, 2013 

Millennium Pharmacy  Winnipeg September 11, 2013 

Medsafe Pharmacy Brandon October 8, 2013 

Emad Pharmacy Winnipeg October 31, 2013 

Marion Pharmacy Winnipeg November 4, 2013 

Target Pharmacy #3747 Winnipeg November 12, 2013 

Westview Pharmacy Winnipeg November 18, 2013 

Concordia Community Pharmacy Winnipeg December 2, 2013 

 
Pharmacies Closed 

(January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013) 

 

Pharmacy Name       Location             Date Closed 
NorthMart Pharmacy Fort Alexander January 25, 2013 

Drugstore Pharmacy #9001 Steinbach February 21, 2013 

Drugstore Pharmacy #9006 Winnipeg March 21, 2013 

Shoppers Simply Pharmacy #3030 Selkirk March 22, 2013 

Al-Shifa Pharmacy #2 Winnipeg June 10, 2013 

The Courts Pharmacy Winnipeg  October 31, 2013 
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Change of Ownership / Name Change / Location Change 

(January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013) 

   
PHARMACY NAME TO TheCanadianPharmacy.com & AccuScreen   January 1, 2013 

FROM TheCanadianPharmacy.com  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO BenefitsRx Pharmacy   January 1, 2013 

FROM Stevens Drug Store  

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO BenefitsRx Pharmacy Ltd.  

FROM Stevens Drug Store Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Providen Pharmacy Logistics    January 1, 2013 

 & Dispensary Logistics 

FROM SPS Pharmacy & Providen Pharmacy Logistics  

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Providen Pharmacy Logistics  

FROM Stream Pharmacy Solutions Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Brandon Clinic Pharmacy   January 1, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO PSC Holdings Ltd.  

FROM Couling Professional Pharmacies  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Al-Shifa Pharmacy #2   January 1, 2013 

FROM Al-Shifa Pharmacy #2 & Canada Medicose.com  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Pharmacie St-Pierre Pharmacy   January 1, 2013 

FROM St. Pierre Pharmacy  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Loblaw Pharmacy #1511   February 18, 2013 

FROM Drugstore Pharmacy #1511  

   

PHARMACY NAME Killarney Pharmacy   February 19, 2013 

LOCATION TO 7A-530 William Avenue, Killarney MB  

LOCATION FROM 518 Broadway Avenue, Killarney MB  

   

PHARMACY NAME Shoppers Drug Mart #532   February 23, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Simran Pharmacy Ltd.  

FROM Charles Scerbo Drugs Ltd.  

 

PHARMACY NAME Autumnwood Medical Pharmacy   March 13, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Hornepayne Pharmacy Inc.  

FROM Autumnwood Medical Pharmacy Inc.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Shoppers Drug Mart #2422   March 24, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Wood Pharmceutical Services Ltd.  

FROM Ahmed Samy Pharmacy Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Shoppers Drug Mart #2505   March 24, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Adrian Gulowaty Pharmacy Ltd.  

FROM Supina Apothecary Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Victoria General Hospital Pharmacy   April 1, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Winnipeg Regional Health Authority  

FROM Victoria General Hospital  
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PHARMACY NAME TO Loblaw Pharmacy #1503 April 2, 2013 

FROM Drugstore Pharmacy #1503  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO You! Drug Mart & You! Drug Store April 17, 2013 

FROM You! Drug Mart  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Loblaw Pharmacy #1510 April 10, 2013 

FROM Drugstore Pharmacy #1510  

   

PHARMACY NAME Shoppers Drug Mart #2428 May 19, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Guilbert Apothecary Ltd.  

FROM Simran Pharmacy Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Shoppers Drug Mart #2404 May 19, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Amir Baksh Pharmacy Inc.  

FROM Maqbool Ahmed Pharmacy Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Sobeys Pharmacy Plessis May 31, 2013 

LOCATION TO 50 Kildonan Green Drive, Winnipeg MB  

LOCATION FROM 1783 Plessis Road, Winnipeg MB  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Loblaw Pharmacy #1514 June 13, 2013 

FROM Drugstore Pharmacy #1514  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Shoppers Drug Mart #2517 June 15, 2013 

FROM Nordic Pharmacy  

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO RLH Becker Inc.  

FROM 8214484 Canada Inc.  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Shoppers Drug Mart #2516 June 16, 2013 

FROM Teulon Pharmacy  

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Michael Olynik Pharmacy Ltd.  

FROM 8214476 Canada Inc.  

 

PHARMACY NAME Providen Pharmacy Logistics  June 28, 2013 

 & Dispensary Logistics 

LOCATION TO Unit 365, 550 Century Street, Winnipeg MB  

LOCATION FROM Lot 14, Dufferin Drive, Homewood MB  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO Steele’s Apothecary August 1, 2013 

FROM Model Dispensary  

   

PHARMACY NAME TO White Cross Drugs Manitoba August 7, 2013 

FROM Four Rivers Pharmacy  

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO 4638418 Manitoba Ltd.  

FROM 5208319 Manitoba Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Shoppers Drug Mart #530 August 11, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Vladimir Yurkov Pharmacy Inc.  

FROM Guilbert Apothecary Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Shoppers Drug Mart #2444 August 11, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Ingrid Tilley Pharmacy Ltd.  

FROM 6127534 Manitoba Ltd.  
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PHARMACY NAME St. Claude Clinic Pharmacy October 11, 2013 

LOCATION TO Box 235, 109 Aspen Avenue S., St. Claude  

LOCATION FROM 149 Cypress Avenue  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #334 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #359 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #586 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #588 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #590 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #591 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #598 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #603 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #604 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #622 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #623 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #628 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

 

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #701 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  
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PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #708 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #712 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #714 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #717 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #718 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #719 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #720 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #724 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #725 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #726 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #727 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #728 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #729 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #730 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  
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PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #731 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Safeway Food And Drug Pharmacy #791 November 4, 2013 

OWNERSHIP CHANGE TO Sobeys West Inc.  

FROM Canada Safeway Ltd.  

   

PHARMACY NAME Al-Shifa Pharmacy November 12, 2013 

LOCATION TO 639 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg MB  

LOCATION FROM 867 Portage Avenue, Winnipeg  

   

PHARMACY NAME Ellis Pharmacy & Thrifty Meds Now November 17, 2013 

LOCATION TO 408 Main Street, Manitou MB  

LOCATION FROM 347 Main Street, Manitou  

   

PHARMACY NAME St. Boniface Pharmacy December 6, 2013 

LOCATION TO 172 Marion Street, Winnipeg MB  

LOCATION FROM 315 Kenny Street, Winnipeg MB  

 
Licensing 

 

During the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2013, the following licenses and memberships 

were issued: 

 

1377 Practicing Licenses 

 116 Non-Practicing Members 

 8 Honorary Life Members (Non Practicing) 

 2 Honorary Life Members (Practicing) 

 7 Honorary Members 

 32 Mailing Notice Subscribers 

 

Pharmacy Licenses were issued to 395 Pharmacies: 

 

 346 Community (Non-IPS) 

 9 Community (IPS) 

 40 Hospital 

 
Passages 

 

Since our last Annual Meeting, a number of our esteemed and valued Members have passed on, 

namely: 

 

Marie Fowler  March 29, 2013 

Rita Diana Forest April 10, 2013 

Grant Schiltroth  May 27, 2013 

Shepherd Isenstein June 1, 2013 

Arthur Harris  June 20, 2013 

George Meyers  June 20, 2013 

Lisa Gibson  July 24, 2013 

Tanya Damsgaard August 26, 2013 

Manuel Morry  December 20, 2013 

R. Philip Loewen December 30, 2013 

George Brown  January 15, 2014 

Pak-Wai Chan  March 23, 2014
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Deputy Registrar 

Report to the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Annual General Meeting 

April 26, 2014 
 

Quality Assurance and Continuous Quality Improvement  

 

The Deputy Registrar oversees Quality Assurance (QA) and Continuous Quality Improvement 

(CQI) initiatives and activities of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba (College). 

 

In College Operations and Processes____________________________________________ 

 

Database and Information Management System 

 

Throughout 2013, the MPhA has continued to engage the services of OlaTech Corporation a 

local, web-based, software development company to design and implement a comprehensive and 

highly reliable information and database management system to meet the unique and specific 

needs of our members, the public and our complex communication, regulatory and licensing 

processes.  

 

Accomplishments in 2013 include: 

 

 more streamlined online licence renewal system for pharmacists and pharmacies  

 complete transition to online documentation of professional development activities 

 implementation of online posting of meeting materials for committee members 

 reconfiguration of online application system for international pharmacy graduates (IPGs) to 

align with NAPRA’s Gateway to Canada for International Pharmacists 

 

We thank members for their feedback and comments as we continue to improve the College’s 

information and database management system. 

 

The Fair Registration Practices in Regulated Professions Act and the  

Office of the Manitoba Fairness Commissioner 

 

It is the responsibility of The Office of the Manitoba Fairness Commissioner (OMFC) to ensure 

that all provincial regulatory authorities (PRAs) are in compliance with the Fair Registration 

Practices in Regulated Professions Act (FRPRPA).  

 

To determine whether a regulator’s assessment and registration practices are fair and in 

compliance with the FRPRPA, the OMFC: 

 has developed reporting requirements for all PRAs to provide data at certain points within 

their registration and licensing processes for international graduates and aggregate data on 

domestic graduate licensees on an annual basis; and, 

 conducts regular Registration Reviews with each of the 36 regulated professions in the 

province  

 

For the purposes of the Registration Review, the OMFC follows a single, broad fairness standard. 
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Dedicated and fair practices are applied for the assessment and registration of internationally 

educated applicants. Policies and procedures are documented, consistently followed and 

periodically reviewed to ensure their effectiveness. 

 

The College’s initial Registration Review was completed in July of 2012 and the College’s 

Registration Review Report together with an Action Plan to address the OMFC’s 

recommendations, has been posted on the OMFC website 

(www.manitobafairnesscommissioner.ca).  

 

In her Statement of Compliance, the Fairness Commissioner acknowledged,  

“A number of the Association’s assessment and registration practices are commendable. To 

mention some significant examples: the Association’s Internship Manual provides IPGs 

comprehensive information and supports transparent assessments. Important work has been done 

ensuring proper training for preceptors. As well, the Association has participated at the national 

level in the development of NAPRA’s IPG Gateway to Canada Project, which promises a 

progressive resource for IPGs.” 

 

Throughout 2013, the College has been involved in addressing the OMFC’s reporting 

requirements and recommendations set out in the Registration Review and Action Plan by: 

 improving the information provided to IPG applicants on the College’s website; 

 referring IPG applicants to pharmacy advocacy groups (CSHP-MB Branch, MSP) for 

assistance in securing suitable internship sites;  

 participation in a review of modules included in the OMFC's Professional Practice Seminars 

for the Allied Health Professions. These seminars will be offered to internationally trained 

applicants to facilitate their integration into the Canadian healthcare system and successful 

licensure; and, 

 working with the National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory Authorities (NAPRA), the 

other pharmacy regulatory authorities (PRAs) and the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada 

(PEBC) on development of Pharmacists’ Gateway Canada for international pharmacists, a 

single portal or point of entry for IPGs seeking licensure in Canada.  

 

Assistant Registrar for Field Operations Orientation 

 

In August of 2013, the College was successful in hiring Mr. Todd Mereniuk in the position of 

Assistant Registrar for Field Operations. Mr. Mereniuk brings a wealth of pharmacy practice 

experience to this position having worked as a pharmacist, pharmacy manager and most recently 

as a pharmacy district manager in Manitoba. In 2013 and continuing into 2014, Mr. Mereniuk has 

been involved in an extensive orientation program to hone his skill and practice experience as it 

relates to the pharmacy regulatory environment through participation in onsite training in 

inspection and investigation processes, participation in the National Board of Pharmacy (NABP)-

sponsored Sterile Compounding Inspection Training and the National Investigator/Inspector 

Training (NCIT) Basic and Specialized Programs provided by the Council on Licensure, 

Enforcement and Regulation (CLEAR). 

 

In Pharmacy Practice________________________________________________ 

 

The College’s Quality Assurance (QA)/Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) Program  

 

The College’s QA/CQI Program consists of several components including, but not limited to: 

 the learning portfolio system 
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 the QA self-assessment and onsite inspection process 

 the complaints resolution process 

 

The learning portfolio system was introduced in Manitoba 12 years ago. While self-directed 

learning is a method by which pharmacists maintain and enhance competence, it is not itself a 

measure of competence or performance. For this reason the Councils of the day in 2005 and 2007 

directed the Professional Development (PD) Committee to review performance assessments in 

use in other jurisdictions and by other health professions in order to develop recommendations on 

additional performance-based assessments that may be used to strengthen the College’s overall 

QA/CQI Program.  

 

At a Council retreat held in September of 2008, the PD Committee provided Council with 

recommendations on guiding principles that would be followed in developing recommendations 

as well as information on additional assessment tools that could be implemented. Subsequent to 

this retreat, a smaller sub-group of PD Committee members took on the task of taking a closer 

look at each competency/performance assessments to begin to evaluate them with respect to 

meeting the guiding principles.  

 

The guiding principles are: 

 

1. Always Improving 
The need to design a program that would support continuous quality improvement for pharmacy 

professionals 

 

2. Practice and Performance-based 

Recognition of the value of assessing pharmacist practice and performance as compared to 

competency assessment alone 

 

3. Relevant to Practice 

Recognition of the impact of environmental/external factors such as the pharmacist’s physical 

environment, including pharmacy systems and operations and practice framework which, in 

addition to competence, influence performance 

 

4. Fair Assessment 

Incorporating best practice models for performance assessment that are measurable, fair, valid 

and transparent based on experience and evidence provided by other sectors, industries and/or 

jurisdictions 

 

5. Using Existing Resources 

The desire to develop a QA/CQI Program that builds on existing infrastructure including 

assessment tools and processes in consideration of the limited resources (financial, human 

resources, time) available to both the pharmacist and the College. 

 

6. Practical 

Envisioning a QA/CQI Program that would be implemented in a staged approach as available 

resources allowed 

 

7. Meaningful 

Adopting a communication/social marketing strategy that engages pharmacists, the College and 

other stakeholders in the initial stages and throughout the development process to solicit feedback 

and guidance that will ensure the program effectively meets the needs of all groups 
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At Council’s most recent strategic planning session, it was determined that the College should 

look at ways in which QA/CQI Program can be improved by including additional assessment 

processes that more accurately reflect performance. It was also suggested that the College 

consider a new Quality Assurance Committee to oversee this process and make recommendations 

to Council on program improvements.  

 

In an effort to build on work already completed, a survey was developed in 2013 to engage the 

membership in this process and gather feedback on the proposed guiding principles and some 

potential assessment tools currently in use by other regulators. Mr. Michael Giannuzzi, a fourth 

year pharmacy student, involved in a rotation at the College during this time took on the task of 

assisting with this survey.  

 

A total of 233 (~17%) licensed practising pharmacists responded to the survey. In summary, a 

majority of pharmacists responded that the guiding principles as approved by Council in 2008 

should not be changed (89.27%) and that there were not any guiding principles that have been 

missed (93.13%). Of the seven guiding principles, a majority of pharmacists responded that the 3 

of greatest importance were that the program be continually improved, relevant to practice and 

practical.  

 

Inter-Provincial Pharmacy Regulatory Authority (PRA) QA Discussion 

 

In 2013, two one-day interprovincial PRA QA discussion sessions were held in June and October; 

one being held in conjunction with Canadian Network of National Associations of Regulators’ 

(CNNAR) Continuing Competence Symposium. These sessions provided the PRAs with an 

opportunity to discuss issues surrounding quality assurance and continuous quality improvement 

in pharmacy practice and the performance-based assessment models currently in use in various 

jurisdictions.  

 

The two major outcomes of this discussion were: 

1. Development of a national PRA toolbox of assessment tools that may be shared among the 

provinces; and, 

2. An initial plan for a train the trainer model for the training of pharmacy inspectors to conduct 

on-site performance-based assessments of pharmacists, which will include assessment of 

expanded scope practices.  

 

 The Network for Interprofessional Continuing Professional Development for 

the Health Professions in Manitoba 

 

Evidence exists in support of the contribution of collaborative patient-centred practice to 

improving patient health outcomes by facilitating access to healthcare, fostering the provision of 

quality care and quality improvement, enhancing satisfaction of patients and healthcare providers, 

and improving patient safety. Beginning in 2009, the College embarked on an innovative 

initiative to create a network of partners in the province to plan, develop, and deliver 

competency-based interprofessional continuing professional development (iCPD) programming 

designed specifically to meet the learning needs of health professionals. iCPD Manitoba is that 

network of partners representing the regulated health professions (undergraduate programs and 

regulators), Prescription Information Services of Manitoba, the Manitoba Institute of Patient 

Safety, the Health Insurance Reciprocal of Canada, and provincial organizations providing 

continuing professional development for health professionals. Over 2013, iCPD Manitoba has 

Page 51 of 85



 

 

 

continued to meet to share information and resources on interprofessional learning opportunities 

aimed at promoting the provision of collaborative care. 

 

NAPRA’s National Advisory Committee on Pharmacy Practice  

 

The mandate of the new National Advisory Committee on Pharmacy Practice (NACPP) is to 

ensure that the National Model Licensing program and its components as well as the Mobility 

Agreement for Canadian Pharmacists maintain their relevancy as pharmacy practice evolves, and 

to advise NAPRA on matters pertaining to pharmacy practice at the national level. The College 

has been represented on the NACPP since its inception. 

 

Responsibilities of the NACPP include: 

 Monitoring the National Model Licensing Program components including the 

Professional Competencies for Canadian Pharmacists at Entry to Practice and the Model 

Standards of Practice for Canadian Pharmacists, to ensure they continue to meet the 

needs of NAPRA members in the protection of the public.  

 Conducting reviews of NAPRA documents on a regular basis to ensure continuous 

quality assurance.  

 Identifying areas in provincial/territorial licensing processes where development and/or 

standardization would be beneficial to NAPRA members.  

 Occasionally researching and recommending to the Board a national regulatory position 

on emerging issues.  

 Addressing matters regarding pharmacy practice which may be referred from the Board 

or the Council of Pharmacy Registrars of Canada from time to time. 

 

In 2013, the NACPP was involved in reviewing and revising the competency documents for 

pharmacists and pharmacy technicians at entry-to-practice in conjunction with the PEBC, 

Association of Faculties of Pharmacy of Canada and pharmacy technician groups across the 

country. The revisions made to the competency documents attempt to standardize definitions and 

terminology used, confirm existing competency statements and include new competency 

statements related to expanded scope of practice activities. The finalized entry-to-practice 

competency documents for pharmacists and pharmacy technicians were set for release by the end 

of the year. 

 

In Pharmacies_____________________________________________________ 

 

QA Self-Assessment and Onsite Inspection Process 

 

The goal of the QA/CQI Program is for each pharmacy to undertake a QA Self-Assessment on an 

annual basis and for an onsite inspection and practice review to be conducted at the pharmacy at 

least once within a 5-year period. For the period January 1st to December 31st, 2013, 144 

pharmacy inspections were conducted in association with regular inspections, new pharmacy 

openings, pharmacy renovations and pharmacy relocations in Winnipeg.  

 

At December 31st, 2013, there were three hundred and ninety five licensed pharmacies in 

Manitoba. 
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* Manitoba municipal populations of 10,000 to 50,000 include Thompson, The Pas, Portage la 

Prairie, Winkler/Morden and Brandon  

Complaints Resolution Process 

As part of the College’s commitment to enhance quality of care and patient safety in Manitoba 

pharmacies, Council has requested that the Complaints Committee communicate information on 

medication incidents through the regularly published Practice Advisories for Patient Safety 

column of the Newsletter. By communicating this information, pharmacists are provided with an 

opportunity to reflect on the incident and their own practice to discover ways to improve.  

 

Number of Complaints Filed Each Year 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

46 37 53 44 12 18 12 16 16 25 34 28 

 

A total of 72 investigations were conducted during the period of January 1, 2013, to December 

31, 2013, in relation to complaints filed and other issues reported to the College. 

 

Issues Identified and Addressed Through the Inspection and Complaints Resolution 

Processes  

In 2013, the most common issues identified and addressed through the inspection and complaints 

resolution processes were: 

 

1. Privacy and Confidentiality of Personal Health Information  

 

This issue relates to the lack of privacy and confidentiality experienced by several patients 

with respect to the use and exchange of personal health information (PHI) within the 

pharmacy. Specific examples include: 

Manitoba Location Hospital 
Community 

(Includes IPS) 

Total 

(Includes IPS) 
IPS 

Winnipeg  12 216 228 8 

City or Town 

(population 10,000 to 

50,000)*  

7 36 43 - 

Rural  21 103 124 1 

Total 40 355 395 9 

* Manitoba municipal populations of 10,000 to 50,000 include Thompson, The Pas, Portage la Prairie, 

Winkler/Morden and Brandon 

 

During the period of January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013 there were six pharmacy closings and twenty-

two pharmacy openings. 

Change 
Winnipeg 

 

City or Town 

(population 

10,000 to 

50,000)* 

Rural 

Manitoba 

(population 

< 10,000) 

Total 

Pharmacies Closing 3 0 3 6 

Pharmacies Opening 13 2 7 22 
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 prescription information left in view of other patients/customers in the dispensary or 

on the dispensary counter  

 prescription information and discussions with pharmacists involving 

medication/medical histories and patient counseling on medications overheard by 

other patients/customers in the pharmacy 

 use of PHI by pharmacy managers and owners to solicit the transfer of patient 

prescriptions from one pharmacy to another 

 

2. Licensed International Prescription Service (IPS) Pharmacies, Call Centres and  

Rogue Internet Drug Outlets 

 

Since the inception of the “internet pharmacy” industry over a decade ago, the College has 

worked diligently to fulfill its mandate of public protection. Today, the College is seen as a 

leader in this country and the US for our efforts in tackling the tough problems associated 

with this industry as we continue to work with Health Canada, law enforcement, NAPRA and 

the National Association of Boards of Pharmacy (NABP) to ensure patient safety. College 

licensed IPS pharmacies operate in compliance with the legislation and regulations. However, 

as we consider the threat to patient safety presented by call centres and rogue internet drug 

outlets sourcing less costly drug supplies globally from unknown, potentially unregulated and 

perhaps illicit drug manufacturers, the situation is unsafe for patients who are unaware. 

Working within the limitations of our legislation, the College has attempted to shut down 

these call centres and rogue internet drug outlets claiming to be licensed in Manitoba, only to 

find the business re-opened under a different address outside of our jurisdiction. These efforts 

continue to increase the workload of field office staff and we continue to look for more 

effective approaches to tackling this tough problem. 

 

3. Importance of Conducting Regular Perpetual Inventory Counts of Narcotic and Controlled 

Drug Supplies Returned By Patients or Expired and Waiting for Destruction 

 

Problematic situations can and do occur when access to expired and returned supplies of 

narcotics and controlled drugs waiting for destruction, have gone unnoticed because the 

pharmacy does not conduct regular perpetual inventory counts of these drugs. 

 

In Communication and Member/Professional/Public Relations________________ 

 

Partners Seeking Solutions with Seniors 

Since 2001, Partners Seeking Solutions with Seniors (PSSS) has comprised a network of over 60 

concerned stakeholders who have come together to promote awareness and increase knowledge 

concerning issues of substance misuse and abuse among older adults and to facilitate access to 

and the adoption of a range of evidence-based prevention and treatment options. Stakeholders in 

PSSS include seniors, senior-serving organizations, health care organizations and individual 

practitioners, addiction service providers, self-help groups, government and academia. 

Pharmacists and pharmacies comprise nearly 10% of PSSS stakeholders. PSSS initiatives include 

a Peer Helping Program and programs developed to bring awareness to the problem.  

 

The College has been a partner in the PSSS network since 2003 and has been represented on the 

PSSS Board of Directors since 2009.  

 

In 2013, the College was involved in development of a Falls Prevention Handout for the public in 

partnership with PSSS. This handout brings awareness to the problems associated with increasing 

age, medication, alcohol and other drug use and the heighted risk for a fall. To date, the handout 
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has been distributed at a Falls Prevention Conference held in October, to pharmacists in an issue 

of the Friday Five, through the PSSS network and through the provincial falls prevention 

coordinator. The handout is available for download from the College’s website under “Practice 

Resources” and pharmacists are encouraged to make the handout available to their clients.  

 

2013 College Apprentice 

As has been the case for the past several summers, the College had the pleasure of hiring a 

pharmacy student. Ms. Melissa Gobin, a third year pharmacy student returned to the College as 

the 2013 Apprentice during the summer months. Melissa’s assistance over the summer proved to 

be invaluable and we thank her for involvement in providing general office support, research 

assistance in preparation for development of the program on Self-Limiting Conditions, research 

related to pharmacy practice issues and member inquiries and providing assistance with 

professional development program events.  

 

One of Melissa’s most notable accomplishments this summer was her work in partnership with 

the Manitoba Institute for Patient Safety (MIPS), the Institute for Safe Medication Practices-

Canada (ISMP) and the Canadian Patient Safety Institute (CPSI) on finalizing the development of 

a presentation package for pharmacists and other healthcare professionals. The goal of this novel 

presentation package is to build awareness and empower patients to become actively involved in 

working with their healthcare team to improve medication safety. For more detailed information 

on this presentation package, please refer to the next section of this report. 

 

Manitoba Institute for Patient Safety (MIPS)  

Learn to be Safe – Medication Safety: A Guide for Pharmacists 

Learn to be Safe - Medication Safety: A Guide for Pharmacists is an online guide made available 

for pharmacists and other healthcare providers to plan, create and deliver effective, customizable 

presentations, discussion groups or workshops aimed at talking with patients and their families on 

ways to improve medication safety.   

 

This guide can help users:  

 deliver key medication safety messages to the public  

 promote patient and family engagement  

 promote community connections with healthcare providers  

 raise awareness of everyone’s role in improving patient safety  

 

The guide includes supplemental content to deliver more focused discussions on medication 

safety for children and teens, when travelling, when using high alert medications, for seniors and 

when using cancer medications in the home.  

 

Beginning in late 2011, the College, the Canadian Patient Safety Institute, and the Institute for 

Safe Medication Practices partnered with the Manitoba Institute for Patient Safety (MIPS) on the 

production of this resource. CancerCare Manitoba pharmacists contributed the content and tools 

to help patients and families living with cancer, use cancer medications safely at home. Work on 

development of this valuable resource and focus testing continued throughout 2012 and much of 

2013 until its completion in September. 

 

A launch of the guide was held on October 29th during Canadian Patient Safety Week in 

conjunction with a PD program focusing on newer oral chemotherapy agents and guidance for 

pharmacists on patient counselling for the safe use of cancer medications in the home. It should 

also be noted that throughout 2013 in issues of the Friday Five and Spring 2013 issue of the 
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Newsletter, information regarding the safe use of chemotherapy in the home has been published 

to assist pharmacists and other pharmacy staff handle these often hazardous products in the 

dispensary and to assist pharmacists when counselling patients. The College thanks pharmacists 

at CancerCare Manitoba and the Winnipeg Regional Health Authority for their great assistance in 

developing these resources.  

 

The online PD program may be viewed on the sbrc.tv website. The complete guide and resources 

are posted on the MIPS website and a link to the guide is found on the College website under the 

“Practice Resources” section.  

 

Canadian Patient Safety Week (CPSW) and Canada's Virtual Forum on Patient Safety and 

Quality Improvement  

Canadian Patient Safety Week took place at the end of October this year and is a national annual 

campaign of the Canadian Patient Safety Institute (CPSI) aimed at inspiring extraordinary 

improvement in patient safety and quality. The theme is “Ask. Listen. Talk.”, with a particular 

emphasis in 2013 on medication safety, as medication incidents continue to be a major patient 

safety issue.  

 

The College was a registered participant and endorser of CPSW and the virtual forum. Launch of 

the Learn to be Safe - Medication Safety: A Guide for Pharmacists virtual presentation package 

was highlighted as the College's major contribution to this year's CPSW activities.  

 

College of Registered Nurses of Manitoba (CRNM) 

In 2013, the CRNM requested the assistance of the College in development of an online 

educational program on the Manitoba Prescribing Practices Program (M3P) for nurse 

practitioners (NPs)/registered nurses-extended practice (RNEPs). This program represents only 

one component of the entire educational program that must be undertaken by NPs/RNEPs to be 

approved by the CRNM to prescribe narcotic and controlled drugs  

 

2013 Current Topics PHRM 4470 

For the past eight years, the Assistant Registrars have developed the content and coordinated the 

speaker engagement for the 3 credit hour Current Topics course for fourth year pharmacy 

students at the University of Manitoba. The purpose of this course is to provide awareness and 

understanding of contemporary issues related to the profession and practice of pharmacy and to 

consider the roles of allied health professionals as they affect the profession, the pharmacist and 

the consumer. Topics are selected in consultation with Faculty and students so that participants 

will gain an appreciation of the regulatory aspects of contemporary pharmacy practice, health 

issues, and the pharmacist's interactions with patients, industry, and other health professionals.  

 

In closing, I would like to thank Council, the Registrar and my co-workers at the College for their 

continued guidance and support throughout a very busy and productive 2013.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Susan Lessard-Friesen 

Deputy Registrar 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Professional Development Committee 

Report to the CPhM Annual Meeting 

April 26, 2014 

 

 

Membership 

 
Josiah Akinde 

Manjit Bains 

Jenna Bolton 

Shawn Bugden 

Divna Calic 

Cenzina Caligiuri 

Laura Delavau 

Michael Giannuzzi 

Fran Gira 

Lita Hnatiuk 

Kathy Hunter 

Dennis Le 

Susan Lessard-Friesen, Deputy Registrar 

Courtney Marion 

 

Kim McIntosh, Assistant Registrar 

Teryl Moore 

Sheila Ng, MSP Liaison 

Olasumbo Ojo 

Amy Oliver 

Kristine Petrasko, Chair 

Joy Rashid 

Megan Scott 

Advit Shah 

Trevor Shewfelt 

Roger Tam 

Pat Trozzo 

Tobi Tse 

Lyndsay Van De Vijsel, CSHP-MB Liaison 

 

The CPhM PD Committee is comprised of pharmacists from a wide variety of practice areas 

including community and hospital pharmacy practice, administration and academia. These 

pharmacists share a strong commitment to life long learning in pharmacy and unparalleled dedication 

to ensuring pharmacists in this province have access to quality professional development 

programming to assist in meeting individual learning needs and improve practice. We are pleased to 

have pharmacy students also sit on the Committee. A few long-time members resigned and we thank 

them for their many years of guidance and service to the PD Committee.  

 

We are fortunate to have many continuing members as well as new graduate pharmacist members 

and pharmacy students, which results in a perspective that is innovative, informed and reflects 

leading edge pharmacy practice. Kristine Petrasko was chair of the Committee again this year. She is 

also the Vice President of the CPhM Council. Our sincere thanks and appreciation are extended to 

Kristine and all members of the PD Committee for their time and commitment.  

 

The PD Committee would like to recognize the excellent support provided by the CPhM staff. We 

wish to extend our thanks and appreciation to Communications and Quality Assurance Coordinator 

Lita Hnatiuk, Executive Assistant to the Registrar Kathy Wright, Administrative Assistant Bev 

Robinson, and Administrative Secretary Stacey Hjorleifson for their outstanding assistance. To the 

Registrar Ronald Guse, Deputy Registrar Susan Lessard-Friesen, Assistant Registrars Todd 

Mereniuk and Kim McIntosh, we appreciate your continued support and guidance.  

Page 57 of 85



 

 

 

 

The CPhM Professional Development Programs 

In 2013, the Professional Development Committee provided 9 programs comprising a  

total of 22.5 accredited professional development hours (equivalent to 22.5 CEU).  

 

The PD Committee 

gratefully 

acknowledges the 

sponsors listed below 

who have provided 

educational grants to 

support professional 

development 

programming for 

Manitoba pharmacists 

in 2013. January 19, 

May 3, October 5, 

October 12 & 

November 30, 2013 

Administration of Injections Practical Skills Workshop 

CCCEP Accredited for 6.5 CEU 

Speakers: Dr. Casey L. Sayre, Pharm.D., APhA Pharmacy-Based 

Immunization Delivery certified, Ph.D. Student, Pharmaceutical Sciences, 

Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba; and Theresa Bowser, RN, 

BN, Instructor, Faculty of Nursing, University of Manitoba 

Sponsored by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba and the Faculty of 

Pharmacy, University of Manitoba 

 

March 13, 2013 Two Hot Topics on Drug Interactions:  

QT Prolonging Meds and Grapefruit-Drug Interactions  

CPhM Accredited for 2.0 CEU 

Speaker: Dr. Mark H. Friesen, B.Sc.Pharm., Pharm.D., Clinical Pharmacy 

Specialist, Grace Hospital 

Sponsored by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

 

April 24, 2013 Wound Care 101 for Pharmacists 

CPhM Accredited for 2.0 CEU 

Speaker: Tanya Girouard-Stringer RN BN ET 

Sponsored by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

 

May 2, 2013 What’s Your Motivation? Motivational Interviewing for Pharmacists 

CPhM Accredited for 2.0 CEU 

Speaker: Aaron Ladd, BMR, RRT, CAE, CTTS, Registered Respiratory 

Therapist, Certified Tobacco Treatment Specialist 

Sponsored by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

 

September, 25, 2013 Management of Anaphylaxis & Smoking Cessation in Primary Care 

CPhM Accredited for 2.0 CEU 

Speakers: Dr. Tom Gerstner, MD, FRCPC, Pediatric Allergist, Section of 

Allergy and Clinical Immunology University of Manitoba; and Dr. Anthony 

Battad, MD, FRCPC, Internal Medicine, Director of Ambulatory Care, St. 

Boniface Hospital 

Sponsored by: Pfizer Canada Inc. 

 

October 2, 2013 Considerations in Pediatric Patients: 

Codeine and pediatric prescribing concerns & Got milk? 

Considerations regarding medication use & lactation 

CPhM Accredited for 2.0 CEU 

Speakers: Ashley Walus B.Sc.Pharm., ACPR, Antimicrobial Stewardship 
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Pharmacist, WRHA Pharmacy Program, Pediatrics; and 

Brendon Mitchell B.Sc.Pharm., WRHA Regional Pharmacy Manager, 

Pediatrics/Neonatology, Women’s Health, & Investigational Drug Services 

Sponsored by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

 

October 29, 2013 A Primer on Oral Anti-Cancer Therapy & Learn to be Safe - 

Medication Safety: A Guide for Pharmacists 

CPhM Accredited for 2.0 CEU 

Speakers: Kristi Hofer, B.Sc.Pharm., Senior Pharmacist, Provincial 

Initiatives, CancerCare Manitoba; Michele Fontaine, B.Sc.Pharm., 

Pharmacy Manager, Associate, Shoppers Drug Mart; and Susan Lessard-

Friesen, B.Sc.Pharm., Deputy Registrar, College of Pharmacists of 

Manitoba 

Sponsored by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

November 20, 2013 Clinical Update with the New Oral Anticoagulants: Fall 2013 

CPhM Accredited for 2.0 CEU 

Speaker: Dr. Peter Thomson, B.Sc.Pharm., Pharm.D., Clinical Resource 

Pharmacist, WRHA Medicine Program, Clinical Associate Professor, 

Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Manitoba 

Sponsored by: Bristol-Myers Squibb Canada / Pfizer Canada Inc. 

 

Online Program Manitoba Module: Administration of Injections 

CCCEP Accredited for 2.0 CEU (previously 1.5 CEU) 

Developers: Theresa Bowser, RN, BN; Melissa Gobin; Christopher 

Louizos, B.Sc.Pharm.; Kim McIntosh, B.Sc.Pharm.; Dr. Casey Sayre, 

Pharm.D.; and Dr. Lavern M. Vercaigne, Pharm.D. 

Sponsored by: College of Pharmacists of Manitoba and the Faculty of 

Pharmacy, University of Manitoba 

 

 

Once again in 2013, the College has provided funding to support programs developed by the PD 

Committee to address specific learning objectives in areas including legislation, patient safety, 

quality assurance/continuous quality improvement and therapeutic areas that have been suggested 

by pharmacists on program evaluations. 

 

Live, interactive videoconferencing has provided pharmacists in rural areas with many more 

professional development opportunities. Over the past year, the PD Committee has provided 

CPhM PD programs whenever possible via videoconference to 20 rural videoconference sites 

across the province including Ashern, Arborg, Brandon, Dauphin, Flin Flon, Gimli, Hodgson, 

Killarney, Portage la Prairie, Neepawa, Notre Dame de Lourdes, Norway House, Roblin, Russell, 

Steinbach, St. Pierre, Swan River, The Pas, Thompson and Morden/Winkler.  

 

Videoconferencing and webcasting of PD programs has provided an enhanced learning 

experience for pharmacists practicing in rural and urban centers alike. A recording of most 

programs is posted on the sbrc.tv website and may be accessed by pharmacists at any time. These 

advances have allowed pharmacists from across the province to make a connection, to share their 

experience and knowledge, and to gain a much broader perspective on pharmacy practice in a 

variety of communities. 
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Videoconference Site Coordinators 

Videoconferencing is an expensive technology for program delivery owing to the high degree of 

technical support necessary. One way in which costs may be reduced is to have volunteer 

videoconference site coordinators trained to operate equipment and serve as the contact person to 

coordinate activities at the far-end site. We were very fortunate to have the following pharmacists 

agree to serve as our videoconference site coordinators for 2013. To each of them, we extend our 

sincere thanks and appreciation for their time and effort, which has allowed us to provide 

educational programs through videoconferencing to pharmacists in rural Manitoba.  

 

Kathy Adriaansen – Neepawa 

Jay Boschman – Portage la Prairie/Brandon 

Blaire Cairns - Grandview 

Pat Cavanagh - Brandon  

Lise Durand – Notre Dame de Lourdes 

Victor Eyolfson - Arborg 

Claire Gillis - Gimli 

Joey Gwozdz – Steinbach 

Brent Havelange – Russell 

Melissa Jacobs - Gimli 

Donica Janzen - Churchill 

Chris Johnson – Killarney 

Russ Keeler - Ashern 

Christine Klimuk - Swan River 

Ken Marek – Portage la Prairie 

Martin Michaels - Hodgson 

Whitney Mitchell - Roblin 

Real Mulaire – St. Pierre 

Spencer Reavie – Russell 

Derrick Sanderson - The Pas 

Trevor Shewfelt - Dauphin 

Jennifer Thackeray – Thompson 

Corey Thompson - Flin Flon 

Dennis Walker – Portage la Prairie 

Jeff Wooster – Morden/Winkler 

 

The CPhM Professional Development Requirement and Learning Portfolio System 

To support continuing competence and practice improvement, pharmacists in this province, like 

most of their colleagues across this country, in the U.S., the U.K. and other jurisdictions around 

the globe, have adopted the concept of continuing professional development (CPD). The CPD 

model is best described as a cyclical process that promotes self-assessment, development of a 

plan for learning, participation in planned learning activities, documentation of learning and 

reflection on learning outcomes.  

 

Originally introduced in April 2002, a major revision of the CPhM Learning Portfolio System 

took place during 2004. Owing to the significant input from pharmacists during the revision 

process, the revised system represents a truly collaborative effort while maintaining the integrity 

of the CPD model. The professional development requirements of the revised system may be 

summarized as follows: 

1. Pharmacists must maintain a learning portfolio and document their learning activities in 

the online PD Log. 

2. Pharmacists are required to participate in a minimum of 25 hours of learning activities 

between November 1st and October 31st each year of which a minimum of 15 hours 

(equivalent to 15 CEU) must be accredited learning activities. The balance of 10 hours of 

learning activities may include non-accredited or accredited learning activities.  

3. All pharmacists who participate in a minimum of 50 hours of learning activities between 

November 1st and October 31st of each year, of which a minimum of 30 hours (equivalent 

to 30 CEU) are accredited learning activities, will receive a CPhM Certificate of Life 

Long Learning in Pharmacy. 

4. Although major learning projects are still a desirable part of the learning portfolio, 

they are considered optional. 

5. At licence renewal, all pharmacists are required to update their online PD Log with their 

learning activities.  
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6. Following the licence renewal period, a 20% random selection of practicing pharmacists 

is made and pharmacists selected are required to submit the CEU statements, certificates 

and/or other documents in support of their participation in the accredited learning 

activities listed on their PDLs. In the revised system, all practicing pharmacists are 

entered into the selection pool each year and therefore, pharmacists may be selected in 

consecutive years. This annual review is conducted by CPhM staff. 

 

The PD Committee continues to rely on feedback from pharmacists on ways in which the 

learning portfolio system may be improved and adapted to fit today’s busy pharmacy practice, 

while continuing to support maintenance of competence and improvement of practice. Over the 

course of 2013, the Committee has continued to consider and discuss additional objective 

assessment tools that pharmacists may use to assist in providing more meaningful self-

assessments and identification of individual learning needs. The self-assessment tool of the 

CPhM Learning Portfolio represents only one model. Currently, models incorporating knowledge 

assessments and peer and practice reviews are being used by pharmacists in other provinces. 

There has been renewed interest among the provincial regulatory authorities for pharmacy to 

work more collaboratively on the development of performance assessment tools and continuous 

quality improvement processes to assist pharmacists. The PD Committee continues to examine 

these and other performance assessment tools to determine their acceptability and effectiveness 

for pharmacists in Manitoba. 

  

2013 Learning Portfolio Summary and Professional Development Log  

At licence renewal, pharmacists are required to complete their online CPhM Professional 

Development Log documenting they have met the professional development requirement for the 

period of November 1st to October 31st and listing the accredited and non-accredited learning 

activities they have participated in during this period.  

 

The year 2011 was the first year that pharmacists were required to submit their PD Log 

electronically. 

 

In 2012, CPhM implemented the online PD Log, and the majority of pharmacists reported their 

learning activities via the new process. The 2011-2012 PD year was the last year members could 

submit their PD Log by any other format.  

 

Starting in the 2012-2013 PD year, members were required to log on to the CPhM website and 

enter their learning activities in the online PD log. The online PD Log can be accessed by logging 

into the cphm.ca website as members do to renew their pharmacist licence.  

 

Feedback from members has been very positive and we thank those that took the time to provide 

comments and suggestions. The CPhM continues to improve the online PD Log whenever 

possible. 

 

In 2013, pharmacists have continued to significently exceed the minimum PD requirement. Of 

note, is that approximately 15% of pharmacists continue to report involvement in greater than 50 

hours of learning activities during the year. 
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Pharmacists have reported participating in both accredited and non-accredited learning activities 

in addressing self-identified learning needs. Non-accredited learning continues to be used by a 

majority of pharmacists and has comprised of approximately 1/4 of pharmacists’ professional 

development for the past several years. 

 

 
 

Pharmacists Awarded Certificates of Achievement 

The following pharmacists have been awarded a CPhM Certificate of Life Long Learning in 

Pharmacy in recognition of their outstanding participation in professional development activities 

during the 2013 PD Year. Recognition is provided each year to pharmacists who have 

participated in a minimum of 50 hours of professional development activities of which a 

minimum of 30 hours involves participation in accredited learning activities.  

 

The CPhM congratulates the following pharmacists on their achievement: 

 

Murvin Abas 

Pietro Aiello 

Robert Ariano 

Marian Attia 

Joanna Ayotte 

Beth Backman 

Manjit Bains 

Melinda Barr 

Melvin Baxter 

Gail Baxter 

Allison Bell 

B. Marie Berry 

Anwar Bhojani 

Marnie Boyle 

Corinne Brockman 

Shawn Bugden 

Traci Burke 

Willson Caetano 

Carolyn Capell 

Dayna Catrysse 

W. Gary Cavanagh 

William Cechvala 

Ryan Chan 

Lengim Chen Ingram 

Arnold Chew 

Kawshik Chowdhury 

Lois Clark 

Leonard Clayman 

Janice Coates 

Cristina Concepcion 

Louise Cooney 

Marcin Cychowski 

Sheril Cyriac 

Lisa De Groot 

Pritpal Dhanjal 

Michael 

DiDomenicantonio 

Betty Dong 

Ryan Douglas 

Ingrid Dueck 

Erica Dueck 

Cecile Dumesnil 

Drena Dunford 

James Duruaku 

Brian Dusik 

Page 62 of 85



 

 

 

Akemi Ebata 

Blair Einarson 

David Elkin 

Karin Ens 

Crystal Evans 

Rowena Fernando 

Lindsay Filz 

Evelyn Fletcher 

Linda Foley 

Rhonda Fusee 

Jennifer Gibson 

M. Claire Gillis 

Alfred Gin 

Lorraine Graham 

Ronald Guse 

Rebecca Hamilton 

Krysten Harder 

Muhammad Hasnain 

Lorraine Hilderman 

Tara Hoop 

Lesley Hoy 

Clinton Huber 

Curtis Hughes 

Shannon Hunter 

Pamela Johnson 

Russel Jose 

Komal Kaler 

Cheryl Kessler 

Rhonda Kitchen 

Meghann Klowak 

Britt Kural 

Conny Kwong 

Danny Lee 

Christine Leong 

Susan Lessard-Friesen 

Thomas Ling 

Laureen Lipinski 

Jugnu Lodha 

Abe Loewen 

Christopher Louizos 

Melvin Love 

Jennifer Ludwig 

Dora Ma 

Janice Macalino 

Janice Magnusson 

Amarjeet Makkar 

Tara Maltman-Just 

Kristopher Marcinowski 

Julie Mark 

Kimberly McIntosh 

David McKay 

Suzanne McKay 

Meghan McKechnie 

Anokhi Mehta-Sachdev 

Chris Mendoza 

Hajra Mirza 

Stephanie Moroz 

Russell Mutch 

Arlene Nabong 

Michael Namaka 

Charlene Nikkel 

Amanda Nunn 

Olasumbo Ojo 

Ravi Pandya 

Joel Pankewich 

Marie-Claude Paradis 

Kimberly Perrett 

Kristine Petrasko 

Siegfried Pfahl 

Olga Pozdirca 

Mathilda Prinsloo 

Sonal Bachu Purohit 

Erin Ramalho 

Connie Ricard 

Derek Risbey 

Janine Rivest 

Gayle Romanetz 

Jack Rosentreter 

Ligy Russel 

Dinah Santos 

Adelaine Saria 

Timothy Saunders 

Chris Schellenberg 

Gerri Scott 

Raffaela Seed 

Penny Shefrin 

Adel Shenoda 

Erika Simpson 

Vishav Partap Singh 

Robert L.J. Sitarz 

Andrea Spillett 

Barbara Sproll 

Alice Studney 

Chengfu Tang 

Jennifer Thackeray 

Meera Thadani 

Tinu Thomas 

Patricia Toth 

Lyndsay van de Vijsel 

Julia Walker 

Ashley Walus 

Jing Wang 

Charlotte Warner 

Elizabeth Wilson 

Brooke Wilson 

Gwen Wischnewski 

Monica Wong 

Horst Wuerfel 

Amanda Young 

Amir Youssef 

Amy Yu 

Osama Zaki 

Anne Zoppa 

 

Resources 

Over this past year, the PD Committee has continued to work to provide pharmacists with access 

to a broad range of educational programs and resources both in-house and via the CPhM PD 

webpage. Resources available in the CPhM Library include accredited continuing education (CE) 

programs, videos/DVDs on a variety of therapeutic areas, speaking packages for pharmacists, 

select pharmacy practice journals and references and access to a computer workstation to search 

online resources. A listing of the complete collection of resources housed in the College Library 

may be found on the PD webpages of the CPhM website at www.cphm.ca.  

 

The PD pages have been updated to include many new listings of accredited CE programs and 

resources. In addition, many of the CPhM PD programs have either been recorded onto DVD or 
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posted on the sbrc.tv website and are available to pharmacists free-of-charge. Titles and topics of 

these recorded programs are listed on the PD pages of the website. 

 

The Canadian Council on Continuing Education in Pharmacy (www.cccep.ca) 

“Advancing pharmacy practice through quality continuing pharmacy education.” 

 

The Canadian Council on Continuing Education in Pharmacy (CCCEP) is the national 

coordinating and accrediting body for continuing pharmacy education in Canada. Its members are 

appointed by the provincial pharmacy regulatory organizations. CCCEP members also include 

representatives from several national pharmacy organizations such as the Canadian Association 

of Pharmacy Technicians (CAPT), the Association of Faculties of Pharmacy of Canada (AFPC), 

the Canadian Society of Hospital Pharmacists (CSHP), the Canadian Pharmacists Association 

(CPhA), and the Canadian Pharmacy Technicians Educators Association (CPTEA). Assistant 

Registrar, Kim McIntosh, is the Manitoba Delegate on the CCCEP Board.  

 

The following outlines a number of items that were completed in the past year to support the 

objectives outlined in the 2012-2015 Strategic Plan: Building Excellence. 

 

Program Excellence  

 The Board of Directors approved a revised Accredited Provider Policy.  

 The Board of Directors approved the Program Provider Policy and the Sponsorship Code 

of Practice.  

 Implemented the new Standards for CCCEP Accreditation including the creation of 

standard-related guidelines to assist providers in their adherence to the new standards.  

 Implemented a new program monitoring system to ensure that accredited programs are 

delivered as accredited.  

 

Practice Excellence  

 A competency-mapped accreditation policy was approved-in-principle by the Board of 

Directors. The policy builds on the Stage 2 accreditation process used for the 

accreditation of immunization and injection programs.  

 

Organizational Excellence  

 The Board of Directors approved a new Mission Statement for CCCEP. A vision 

statement is being explored.  

 The Canadian Pharmacy Technicians Educators Association (CPTEA) was welcomed as 

CCCEP’s newest member.  

 CCCEP submitted the Articles of Continuance to re-place the current Letters Patent. 

CCCEP also revised its By-laws to align with the provisions of the new Canada Not-for-

Profit Corporations Act.  

 The Board of Directors reviewed, revised and renewed several operational policies. 

These policies included: Privacy Policy, Guidelines on the Use of CCCEP Logos and 

Page 64 of 85



 

 

 

Trademarks, Complaints Policy, Financial Management Policy, Expense Reimbursement 

Policy, Investment Policy and the Code of Conduct.  

 

Celebrating CCCEP 1973-2013 
In the forty years since its founding in 1973, CCCEP evolved from an entirely volunteer-run 

organization to become a fully operational not-for-profit association inclusive of permanent staff 

members and national office. CCCEP continues, however, to benefit from numerous volunteers 

who share their time and expertise as learning review panelists. To recognize this significant 

milestone, a series of activities to commemorate CCCEP’s 40th anniversary were planned, 

including: the launch of CCCEP e-Connect weekly news brief, the début of a volunteer 

recognition program celebrating years of service for learning review panelists and the general 

promotion of CCCEP and CCCEP e-Connect. CCCEP would like to thank all who contributed to 

the success of the organization throughout the past forty years! 

 

Once again we extend our thanks and appreciation to all those involved for their time, efforts, and 

dedication to the work of the PD Committee and of the professional development needs of 

pharmacists in Manitoba.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

Kristine Petrasko, Chair, and 

Kim McIntosh, Assistant Registrar 
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College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

Standards of Practice Committee 

Report to the CPhM Annual Meeting 

April 26, 2014 
 

 

The role of the Standards of Practice Committee is to review, revise and/or develop minimum 

standards to guide pharmacists in their pharmacy practice. The intent is to ensure that a 

satisfactory minimum practice level is maintained throughout Manitoba. Methods of 

implementation include Practice Directions, Guidelines, and Policies through recommendations 

to Council. 

 

The following is a report on the issues brought before the committee and their current status.  

 

Practice Directions 

As in the past, the Committee focused primarily on the development of the Practice Directions 

that support the 2006 Pharmaceutical Act. In 2011, the work started with the development of a 

template that continues to be used for all Practice Directions. After approval of the template by 

Council, the Committee proceeded with the development of Practice Directions with initial focus 

on those that needed to be developed in their entirety (versus those developed based on existing 

standards of practice).  

 

Over the course of the year, the Committee participated in the development of 9 of the 40 

identified Practice Directions. The Practice Direction writers have played a significant role in the 

Committee’s ability to complete its review process in a timely fashion. As the Practice Directions 

are developed by the contract writers, vetted by the Standards of Practice Committee and 

reviewed by Council, they have been broadly circulated for consultation with the members and 

stakeholder organizations as per CPhM Policy on Practice Directions. Final approval of the 

regulations has facilitated the process and a number of outstanding practice directions are either 

in the drafting process or will be based on existing CPhM guideline/standards documents.  

 

Committee Members 

The position of Standards of Practice Committee Chair was held by Councillor Kurt Schroeder.  

 

A special thank you is extended to the participating members of the Standards of Practice 

Committee for their ongoing and tireless dedication. The upcoming year should be both 

challenging and rewarding as the Committee continues its work to complete the Practice 

Directions.  

 

CPhM members interested in participating in this process or other areas of standards development 

are encouraged to submit their name by contacting the College office. Teleconference meeting 

attendance is available for members located in rural/remote areas. All participation is welcome. 

 

The Standards of Practice Committee would like to thank the following members for their 

participation during this past year: 

 

Divna Calic   Scott McFeetors  Kurt Schroeder 

Sheri Dyck   Nicole Nakatsu   Marilyn Sidhu 
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Nicholas Honcharik  Geoffrey Namaka  Pasquale Trozzo 

Sheldon Kokorudz  Amy Oliver   Ashley Walus 

Jane Lamont   Gayle Romanetz  Kathy Wright, CPhM Staff 

        Todd Mereniuk, CPhM Staff 

 

Respectfully submitted 

Kurt Schroeder, Committee Chair 
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NAPRA  

Report to Annual General Meeting 

Saturday, April 26th, 2014 
 

The Board of National Association of Pharmacy Regulatory (NAPRA) meets twice a year in 

person, and may have teleconference meetings as the need arises throughout the year. The 

Council of the College of Pharmacists appointed me as the NAPRA Board member from 

Manitoba and I attend the meetings with the Registrar. This report contains the recent activities of 

NAPRA and further information is available through the NAPRA website.  

 

Professional Competencies for Canadian Pharmacy Technicians at Entry to Practice and 

Professional Competencies for Canadian Pharmacists at Entry to Practice 

In January 2014, the Board approved these two competency documents. The competency 

documents are a key pillar for NAPRA and will be used by the Faculties of Pharmacy and 

Technician schools to development the educational outcomes. As well, the Canadian Council for 

the Accreditation of Pharmacy Programs (CCAPP) uses these competencies when assessing the 

educational programs for accreditation. 

 

Annual NAPRA fee increases 

The following motion was passed by the Board in November 2013: 

 

That NAPRA revise the way it calculates the increase in annual fees to each member to 

an actual cost per capita method based on the 2010 numbers for 2014 and 2015.  

 

The change will result in a decrease in the annual increase of membership fees for the small to 

midsized provinces and a slight increase in the larger provinces. The Board also approved an 

annual fee increase of 2.5%, based upon the above motion. 

 

Ad Hoc Committee on Membership Fees 

The Board established an Ad Hoc Committee on Membership Fees mandated to formulate 

recommendations to NAPRA Board of Directors regarding a preferred model for establishing 

annual membership fees including how an annual increase would be applied. The committee 

would not include a full review of a revenue model, just the membership fee model. 

 

The Registrar from Quebec (Manon Lambert) and the Directors from Manitoba (Kyle MacNair) 

and Prince Edward Island (Ken Crawford) were appointed to the ad hoc committee. 

 

Ad hoc Committee on Pharmacy Compounding  

Although the review of the current NAPRA Compounding Guidelines was initiated by the 

Council of Pharmacy Registrars of Canada (CPRC), CPRC recommended there is greater urgency 

to review and develop standards and the NAPRA Board agrees this is a priority and established 

and funded an ad hoc Committee to do so. The registrars appointed to the ad hoc committee are 

Marshall Moleschi, Bob Nakagawa, Susan Wedlake and Ronald Guse (chair).  

 

Changes to By-law #1 to comply with the new Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act 

The Transition Team made significant progress over the past year and a half on advancing the 

discussion on the association’s application for continuance under the new Canada Not-for-profit 

Corporations Act. At its last meeting, the Board approved the filing of the association’s 

application for Continuance which was subsequently forwarded to Industry Canada by NAPRA’s 

legal advisor. A Certificate of Continuance was issued to NAPRA on May 2, 2013. Even though 
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the receipt of the Certificate of Continuance represents an important milestone, the association 

still has an obligation to forward a copy of its By-laws before May 2, 2014 (within one year from 

the issuance of the Certificate of Continuance). It was mentioned in previous reports to the Board 

that changes to By-law No. 1 were required in order to reach compliance with the new Act.  

 

Audit Committee 

At the April meeting and further to the Board discussion, a decision was made to establish an 

Audit Committee to strengthen the audit process. This decision was motivated by the importance 

of implementing best practices in financial accountability. The Board considered draft terms of 

reference with the plan to approve the document at the April, 2014 Board meeting. 

 

Drug Shortages Private Member’s Bill 

A private member’s Bill was introduced in Parliament to place obligation on drug suppliers to 

provide notice when a drug will be discontinued, planned or unplanned.  

 

It also places obligation on the federal Minister of Health by stating: 

The Minister shall, in cooperation with the provincial authorities, coordinate efforts to 

prevent and address shortages of drugs, inform, as necessary, patients and health care 

providers of possible shortages, and prepare and implement an emergency response plan 

to address any shortage of a drug that the Minister considers necessary for public health. 

 

Pharmacy Practice Management System (PPMS)  

The information management systems used by pharmacy professionals (referenced in the 

document as pharmacy practice management systems or PPMS) must support the delivery of 

patient care including the dispensing of drugs in accordance with Canadian regulations and 

standards. The systems must be able to record, display, store and exchange patient specific 

information in a manner that optimizes workflow within a pharmacy team. PPMS must facilitate 

information exchange with external systems, such as electronic health record systems, and also 

processes such as electronic prescribing. A critical requirement is to preserve the confidentiality 

and security of all personal health information processed or transmitted.  

 

The system has 35 requirements addressing technical, functional, and administrative requirements 

of the PPMS. Some of the requirements are unique patient identifiers and unified patient records, 

the accurate identification of prescribers and system users, the restriction of access to patient data, 

approved users of PPMS, user access control and logout of users and termination of access 

privileges. It also addresses patient choice, patient consent restrictions, comprehensive 

medication profiles and clinical records and the sharing of those records, tracking patient 

progress, and lab test ordering by pharmacists. All the requirements, when met, will ensure that 

PPMS are designed and used in ways that ensure the safety, security and efficacy of e-

prescriptions and the related electronic pharmacy records. 

 

The PPMS was approved by NAPRA Board as a requirement document in support of the 

Standards of Practice for Canadian pharmacists with a target coming into effect date of January 

2016.  

 

National Bridging Program for Newly Regulated Pharmacy technicians  

The second part of the national Bridging Program was released by NAPRA in January 2014. The 

Project was made available through funding from Human Resources and Skills Development 

Canada (HRSDC) to develop an English and French in-class and on-line national bridging 

program for pharmacy technicians. The program will enable individuals to upgrade their skills to 
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align with changes in the scope of practice, without returning to school to complete an entire 

training program. 

 

Bilingual services 

The Board agreed to produce all policy and standard documents in French and English. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Kyle MacNair, NAPRA Board Member 
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Board of Examiners Report 

- Neal Davies, Chair 
 

The Board of Examiners met three times over the past year. The majority of the agenda involves 

the review and approval of applicants for registration and licensure in Manitoba. Manitoba has 

had an increase in the number of international pharmacy graduates (IPGs) wanting to enter 

pharmacy practice in Canada through Manitoba. During 2013, there were sixty-seven (67) 

international pharmacy graduates who registered as applicants with the College, compared to 

seventy-eight (78) in 2012; forty-six (46) applicants completed all licensing requirements and 

became practicing pharmacists in Manitoba, compared to seventy-three (73) in 2012. 

 

The increased influx of IPGs can be, mostly, attributed to registration and licensing changes that 

occurred several years ago in the province of Ontario. This increase in applicants has put an 

additional strain on the College’s registration and licensing processes and on the pharmacists of 

Manitoba to be preceptors during the required internship. The commitment of the Board and 

College is to process the applications in a timely, but thorough manner. The Board recognizes and 

appreciates the professional responsibility and commitment of the many Manitoba pharmacists 

who have offered their time, knowledge and experience to serve as preceptors. 

 

During the course of the year, the Board made the following determinations: 

 

The Board established that any international pharmacy graduate who submits a language 

proficiency report in French would have to complete their internship in French, work in a 

predominantly French speaking community; these conditions would be placed on their practicing 

licence and included in any letter of standing that the College provides for the pharmacist. 

 

The Board decided to continue with their previous decision made in 2012 to not permit applicants 

to submit TOEFL iBT language reports to the College.  

 

The Board passed the following motions for implementation of the December 2006 

Pharmaceutical Act and Pharmaceutical Regulations: 

 

 THAT for international pharmacy graduates, the Board approves that the applicant is to 

provide an original letter of standing directly from the licensing body from the jurisdiction 

where the applicant is currently a member or, if not currently a member in any jurisdiction, 

where the applicant most recently had a membership/licence, or, a certified copy directly 

from PEBC to the College. The letter of standing must be dated and signed within 24 months 

of licensure in Manitoba. Should the applicant be unable to provide a letter of standing to 

satisfy this requirement, the applicant must provide a signed and notarized affidavit 

confirming: 

1) they are unable to provide a current letter of standing and must describe the reason(s) 

why the applicant cannot, and 

2) the applicant has not worked as a pharmacist since leaving practice from the country 

of last licensure, and  

3) the applicant has no history or outstanding matters of discipline or complaint 

investigation as a pharmacist. 

 

 THAT for a graduate from a CCAPP approved Canadian pharmacy program that has never 

been registered or licensed in Canada, the Board approves the written confirmation from the 

applicant that they have never been licensed as a pharmacist previously. 
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 THAT for a person who is applying under The Labour Mobility Act and is already licensed as 

a pharmacist in another jurisdiction, the Board approves the applicant provide an original 

letter of standing directly from the licensing body where the applicant is currently a member 

or, if not currently a member in any jurisdiction, where the applicant most recently had a 

membership or licence.  

 

 THAT the Board approves the setting of a jurisprudence examination by the College and the 

applicant must attain 70% passing grade. 

 

 THAT the Board approves for all internships beginning after January 1, 2014, a six hundred 

(600) hour internship, two hundred and forty hours (240) of which can be served while 

registered as an Intern at the Faculty of Pharmacy at the University of Manitoba, under a 

preceptor approved under the Pharmaceutical Act and a recommendation from the preceptor 

the intern be registered. 

 

 THAT for a person that is applying under The Labour Mobility Act and is already licensed as 

a pharmacist in another jurisdiction, the Board approves that the applicant must provide an 

original letter of standing directly from the licensing body where the applicant is currently a 

member or, if not currently a member in any jurisdiction, where the applicant most recently 

had a membership or licence.  

 

 THAT the Board approves that the applicant be required to provide a declaration that they do 

not suffer from a physical or mental condition, including an addiction to alcohol or drugs, that 

may interfere with his or her ability to practice in a safe and effective manner, and that 

therefore makes it desirable in the public interest that he or she not practice pharmacy. 

 

 THAT within three months prior to beginning their internship, the Board approves the 

applicant for registration be required to provide: 

1) an original letter from the Royal Canadian Mounted Police or any other Canadian police 

service, which includes a Canadian Police Information Centre (CPIC) assessment, that 

the applicant does not have a record of conviction under the Criminal Code (Canada), the 

Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (Canada) and the Food and Drugs Act (Canada), 

2) documentation the applicant’s name does not appear on the child abuse registry check 

under The Child and Family Services Act, and, 

3) documentation the applicant’s name does not appear on the adult abuse registry check 

under The Adult Abuse Registry Act. 

 

 THAT the Board approves the applicant for registration be required to provide a declaration 

that they: 

1) are not the subject of a current investigation or proceeding relating to professional 

conduct under an enactment regulating a health profession, 

2) never had an application to practice a health profession denied, 

3) have not previously been disciplined by another regulatory body responsible for the 

regulation of pharmacists or of another health profession, 

4) do not have any current or previously had conditions placed on the applicant's ability to 

engage in practice, 

5) have not been found civilly liable for professional negligence or malpractice in relation to 

the practice of a health profession, and, 
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6) are not the subject of a current proceeding in respect of a criminal offence, or an offence 

under an Act regulating the practice of pharmacists or relating to the sale of drugs, 

 

 THAT the Board approves the applicant be required to provide a notarized passport size and 

style photograph.  

 

 THAT the Board define notarized as being either from a Notary Public located in any 

province in Canada, or, certified by a Commissioner of Oaths located in Manitoba, or, as 

may be determined equivalent by the Board from time to time. 

 

 THAT the Board approves that in all sections of the regulations that require the applicant to 

provide a recent passport-sized image, that it be notarized in compliance with this decision. 

 

 THAT the Board approves the applicant be registered on the conditional register if they have 

completed all registration requirements, as approved by Council, with the exception of the 

successful completion of the PEBC Qualifying Examination, but only when the applicant is a 

graduate from the Faculty of Pharmacy at the University of Manitoba.  

 

 THAT the Board approves the applicant be registered on the temporary register if they 

provide a declaration that they do not suffer from a physical or mental condition, including an 

addiction to alcohol or drugs, that may interfere with his or her ability to practice in a safe 

and effective manner, and that therefore makes it desirable in the public interest that he or she 

not practice pharmacy. 

 

 THAT the Board approves the applicant be registered on the academic register if they 

provide an original letter of standing directly from the licensing body where the applicant is 

currently a member.  

 

 THAT the Board approves the applicant be registered on the academic register if they 

provide a declaration that they do not suffer from a physical or mental condition, including an 

addiction to alcohol or drugs, that may interfere with his or her ability to practice in a safe 

and effective manner, and that therefore makes it desirable in the public interest that he or she 

not practice pharmacy. 

 

 THAT the Board approves the following policy for someone who has been absent from 

practice: 

1) An applicant that is two hundred (200) hours or less short of the six hundred (600) hours 

requirement, may be issued a licence with the condition they must practice under the 

indirect supervision of a member with the same conditions, as noted in section 7 of the 

regulations, until the six hundred (600) hour requirement is met.  

2) An applicant that is over two hundred (200) hours short of the six hundred (600) hours 

requirement, the applicant not be issued a licence until they have successfully completed 

two hundred (200) hours of pharmacy practice under the direct supervision of a member 

and receive a recommendation from the supervising member that the applicant can be 

issued a licence to practice, and, once that has occurred, the applicant may practice under 

indirect supervision with the same conditions, as noted in section 7 of the regulations, 

until the six hundred (600) hour requirement is met. 

3) An applicant that has not been licensed in the previous three licence years and not more 

than ten years, prior to the year of application, must: 
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a) successfully complete a six hundred (600) hour structured internship under the 

direct supervision of a preceptor; and  

b) Successfully complete a jurisprudence examination, unless the applicant has a 

held a non-practicing membership for the applicant did not have a licence, and 

attain a passing grade of 70% or more; and, 

c) Complete three times the amount of professional development as required in 

section 17 of the regulations. 

 

4) An applicant that has not been licensed for more than ten years, prior to the year of 

application must: 

a) Successfully complete the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada OSCE Part II 

portion of the Qualifying Exam; and 

b) Successfully complete a 600 hour structured internship under the direct 

supervision of a preceptor; and  

c) Successfully complete a jurisprudence examination and attain a passing grade of 

70% or more. 

 

 THAT the Board approves the following policy for someone who has been previously 

registered as an extended practice pharmacist and cannot satify the 600-hour requirement of 

clause 97(1)(b): 

 

1) An applicant that is 200 hours or less short of the 600 hours requirement may be issued a 

licence with the condition they must practice under the indirect supervision of a member 

with the same conditions, as noted in section 7 of the regulations, until the 600 hour 

requirement is met.  

2) An applicant that is over 200 hours short of the 600 hours requirement, the applicant not 

be issued a licence until they have successfully completed 200 hours of pharmacy 

practice under the direct supervision of a member and receive a recommendation from 

the supervising member that the applicant can be issued a licence to practice, and, once 

that has occurred, the applicant may practice under indirect supervision with the same 

conditions, as noted in section 7 of the regulations, until the 600 hour requirement is met. 

3) For any other applicant, the Board will determine the requirements on a case by case 

basis. 

 

I would like to thank the members of the Board of Examiners for their time, commitment and 

thoroughness in performing their duties. The Board recognizes the hard work of the 

Administrative Assistant Bev Robinson and Registrar Ronald Guse and is most appreciative of 

their support throughout the year. 

 

Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Board, 

Neal Davies, Chair 

 

Board Members: 

Bobby Currie (effective June 2013) 

Travis Giavedoni (effective December 2013) 

Lora Jaye Gray (effective June 2013) 

Kyle MacNair 

Jarrid McKitrick (term ended June 2013) 

Gayle Romanetz (term ended June 2013) 

Kim Sharman (term ended June 2013) 
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Awards & Nominating Committee Report 

To the Council of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

February 10, 2014 
 

The Awards & Nominating Committee makes the following recommendations for 

awards for 2014: 
 

Bowl of Hygeia:  

Janice Coates 
The Bowl of Hygeia awards was established in 1958 to recognize outstanding community service by pharmacists.  

Criteria to be identified with the nomination should include: 

• Elected public office or community boards   

• Community professional outreach 

• Service club participation     

• Sport and / or cultural club participation 

• Business club activity 

 

2013 Pharmacist of the Year:  

W. Gary Cavanagh 
This award is given annually to a Manitoba Pharmacist who, in the opinion of his/her peers, has made a significant 

contribution to the profession during his/her career. 

Criteria to be identified with the nomination should include: 

• Elected office in provincial and / or national pharmacy organizations 

• Committee involvement with provincial / national pharmacy organizations 

• Practice Achievements 

• Mentorship, high practice standards and innovation 

 

Bonnie Schultz Memorial Award for Practice Excellence:  

Jennifer Gibson 
Criteria: The nominee shall demonstrate outstanding excellence in optimizing patient care. 

Factors to be considered: 

• serve as a role model 

• excellence in communication skills 

• compassion, empathy and concern   

• demonstration of skilled practice 

 

Patient Safety Award:  

Scott McFeetors & Gayle Romanetz 
The Patient Safety recognizes those that have made a significant and lasting contribution to improving patient safety 

and health care quality through a specific initiative or project. 

The following is being considered as criteria, when selecting the successful applicant or nomination. 

 The pharmacist(s) involved are members of the College 

 The project or program has demonstrated a positive impact upon patient safety and involves some component of 

the practice of pharmacy 

 Innovative and patient centered care projects will be given preference. 

 The project or program could be preventative in nature or may have occurred as a result of an adverse event or 

“near-miss” 

 

Centennial Award:  

Christopher Louizos, Lavern Vercaigne, and Kimberly McIntosh 
The Centennial Award is presented to a pharmacist or pharmacists for a particular project that has had a positive 

impact on pharmacy. 
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Honorary Member:  

None recommended 
An Honorary Membership is given to worthy individuals, who are not registered pharmacists in Manitoba, but have 

provided valuable and notable service to the profession of pharmacy. 

 

Honorary Life Membership:  

No nominations 
This award is open to pharmacists who have made a significant contribution to pharmacy in Manitoba and at the 

national level. 
 

The awards for the Bowl of Hygeia, the Pharmacist of the Year, the Bonnie Schultz Memorial 

Award for Practice Excellence, and the Patient Safety Award will be presented at the Annual 

Awards Gala on Saturday, April 26, 2014, at the Delta Hotel.  

 

The Centennial Award will be presented at the College’s Annual Awards Luncheon on Sunday, 

April 27, 2014, at the Winnipeg Convention Centre. 

 
 

The following members will receive 50 Year Gold Pins and Certificates: 
 

J. Dexter Boyd 

Barbara Cinnamon 

Wayne Couling 

Michael Dembinsky 

Richard Stephanchew 

Shirley Surbey 

 

The following members will receive their 25 Year Silver Pins and Certificates: 
Robert Ariano 

T. Stuart Bellingham 

Kelly Borisenko 

Scott Davidson 

Blondina Funk 

Alan Gillis 

Kevin Harris 

Robert Hawkins 

Nicholas Honcharik 

Patricia Hunter 

Stephen Khoe 

Ernest Kiz 

Shaun Kohut 

Florence Kwok 

Tan Luong 

Tara Jean Martin 

Michael McShane 

Phuong Phan 

Carla Strang 

Kathryn Taback 

Louise Van De Spiegle 

Earl Winzinowich 

Kenneth Zink 

 

The 25-year and the 50-year award recipients will be honored at the Annual Awards Luncheon 

scheduled for Sunday, April 27, 2014, at the Winnipeg Convention Centre. 

 
 

The following recipients received the following M.Ph.A. Awards in 2013: 
 

MPhA Gold Medal:      Lesley Worsnop 

MPhA Silver Medal:      Devin Ross 

MPhA Silver Medal in 3rd Year Pharmacy:   Heather Bourns 

MPhA President’s Prize:     Lesley Worsnop 

Stewart G. Wilcox Award:     Amy Lo 

Dr. J. R. Murray Scholarship:    Devin Ross 

Wm. G. Eamer / MPhA Graduate Scholarship:  Jordyn Lerner 

William G. Eamer / MPhA – Undergraduate Awards: 
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3rd year:  Jillian James 

2nd year:  Jaclyn Deonarine 

1st year:  Jacy Howarth 

Entering:  Jessica Holben 

The student awards have been presented to the recipients by the University of Manitoba Faculty 

of Pharmacy; however, the College is pleased to include the awards in the program for the 

Awards Luncheon.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Shawn Bugden, Committee Chair 

Ronald Guse, Registrar 

 

Awards & Nominating Committee Members: 

Shawn Bugden, Chair 

Neal Davies, Dean – Faculty of Pharmacy 

Leann McCannel 

Scott McFeetors 

Nicole Nakatsu 

Grant Lawson 

Penny Shefrin 
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Governance Committee Report to Annual General Meeting 

April 26, 2014 

Winnipeg, Manitoba 
 
The Governance Committee has been established as a standing committee of the College of 

Manitoba Pharmaceutical Association (MPhA) (now the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba). 

The committee reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the governance of structures of our 

regulatory body. The activity of the Governance Committee was limited in 2013. Given the focus 

on the implementation of the Pharmaceutical Act and its governance related issues, a strategic 

decision was made to focus the work needed to complete this task. This activity included the 

development and approval of by-laws to govern the new College. The majority of this activity 

occurred at the council level.  

 

The remaining efforts of the Governance Committee were focused in a few key areas. The 

committee conducted a blinded review of the previous election results. The intent was to evaluate 

the potential impact of the elimination of districts in our electoral process. It was recognized that 

our voting structure imposes some constraints, but the initial assessment suggested that 

elimination of the districts might not substantially change our elections results. The committee 

recommended to council that we consider elimination of districts from our election process. 

Council recommended that this concept be discussed at district meeting prior to further 

consideration. An organizational chart has been approved. The Committee remains supportive of 

the development of a password protected website for council and a simplified process for 

preceptor approval; other priorities have not allowed these items to move forward at this time. 

The committee also reviewed action items suggested by council stemming from some governance 

and board development sessions. A council calendar, additional detail on financial statements, 

meetings with Minister of Health and board meeting review are a few of the items on which 

progress has been made. 

 

In the new era of the College of the Pharmacists of Manitoba, the committee looks forward to 

refocusing our efforts on ensuring good governance of our organization and beginning the 

preparations needed to move our regulatory body under the Regulated Health Professional Act. 

 

The committee wishes to recognize and thank, Ronald Guse for his support to our committee.  

  

On behalf of the committee and submitted respectfully,  

Shawn Bugden, Chair  

  

Committee members  

Gary Cavanagh   Bill Regehr  

Kim Sharman   Kyle MacNair  
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Finance & Risk Management Committee Report 

To the 2014 Annual General Meeting of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

 
The Committee’s focus since 2012 has been for a broader risk management of the College 

through general discussion and preliminary assessment of the College’s current policies and 

procedures, including but not limited to, insurance and liability coverage, the Health and Safety 

Policy, and the Investment Policy. 

 

After initiating the review of the aforementioned policies, namely the Health and Safety Policy, it 

became evident that without legal review and opinion, the collective awareness of the Committee 

was not sufficient to provide a comprehensive assessment of legal risk to the College. To 

continue the review process, the Committee brought forward a motion to Council to request 

funding for legal review of these matters. It was decided by Council that the Committee should 

not contact legal counsel directly and that Council would have the College solicitors review the 

policies through customary legal channels. 

 

Due to the increased amount of workload on the College in preparing and passing the new 

regulations, there was a delay in conducting the legal review of the Health and Safety Policy. It 

has recently been completed by the College solicitors; however, at the time of writing this report, 

the findings have yet to be presented to Council, the Committee or the Chair. As such, there has 

been little activity from the Committee, as it has been awaiting this report. 

 

As Chair, I thank the Committee volunteers for their effort, insight, and recommendations, and 

thank the Registrar for his support and participation.  

 

Respectfully submitted on behalf of the Committee 

Geoff Namaka, Executive Treasurer 

 

Committee Members: 

Carol Davis  William Eamer  Ronald Guse 

Rob Jaska  Kim Sharman  Penny Shefrin 
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Report of the Representative to the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada 

For the Annual General Meeting of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba 

April 26, 2014 

 
Established in 1963 by a Special Act of Parliament, the Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada 

(PEBC) is the national certification body for the pharmacy profession in Canada. As a non-profit 

organization, PEBC has been assessing the qualifications and competence of candidates for 

licensing by pharmacy provincial regulatory authorities for 50 years. The official start of PEBC’s 

50th year was December 21st, 2013, and we look forward to celebrations to commemorate this 

event are in 2014.  

 

It has been an honour to serve as the representative of the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba on 

the board of PEBC again this past year. In 2013/14, I completed my third year on the Executive 

committee serving in the role of Vice-President and continuing in my role as the Chair of the 

Finance Committee. Individual PEBC board members continue to provide pharmacy students 

with a live orientation to the PEBC process. As the College of Pharmacists of Manitoba, I 

provided this orientation presentation to the 4th year pharmacy students at the University of 

Manitoba on February 3rd, 2014. 

 

The Pharmacy Technician Evaluating & Qualifying Technician Exams have continued as a 

growing and important part of PEBC’s activities. There are now more than 3,000 pharmacy 

technicians nationally and the fall sitting of the Qualifying Technicians Exams had more than 

1,000 candidates. PEBC has approved an extension of the deadline to complete the Pharmacy 

Technician Evaluating Exam from 2015 to 2018. This gives potential candidates in provinces like 

Manitoba additional time to complete this process. In 2013, NAPRA released a national bridging 

program that provides educational structure to the training between the Evaluating Exam and the 

Qualifying Exam. Now that our regulatory body is under the new Pharmaceutical Act, I will be 

encouraging PEBC to bring the Qualifying Exams to our province.  

 

PEBC continues to move forward on a number of fronts. The initial feasibility of Computer-

Based Testing has been assessed and preliminary planning on moving this initiative forward has 

begun. The necessary changes to bring PEBC under the Canada Not for Profit Act have also been 

put in place.  

 

The development and delivery of a national examination for pharmacist and pharmacy 

technicians is a major undertaking. PEBC is nationally and internationally recognized for 

excellence in the job they do. This excellence is achieved through the active partnership between 

PEBC and the profession. On behalf of PEBC, I want to thank the dedicated pharmacists and 

pharmacy technicians that participate in the PEBC process. Your efforts make this excellence 

possible. 

 

Thank you for the honour of serving as the PEBC board member for Manitoba so that I might 

also contribute to the pursuit of excellence in the evaluation process for our profession.  

 

PEBC – “Providing Excellence in Certification for the Pharmacy Profession” 

Respectfully submitted, 

Shawn Bugden 

Board Member for Manitoba  

Vice-President, The Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada  
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Faculty Of Pharmacy Report 2013-2014 

 
1. Dean’s Message 

It is my pleasure to provide the Dean’s message for the 2013 Annual Report to the CPhM. This is 

perhaps the most exciting time ever in the history of the Faculty of Pharmacy at the University of 

Manitoba. The Faculty of Pharmacy accreditation was successful in receiving a clean bill of 

health for 2013-2019. In anticipation of the new pharmaceutical act regulations we incorporated 

immunization and physical assessment training to our pharmacy program and further new training 

initiatives are ongoing. Faculty, staff, students and alumni have enjoyed various social activities 

including the Mr. Pharmacy Pageant, and we celebrated the achievements of our second Faculty 

of Pharmacy Outstanding Alumni Award presented to Dr. Marilyn Morris (Class of 1983). We 

have also hosted 40 and 50 year class reunions with our alumni. The Grand Rounds Alumni 

Seminar Series was also very successful. With generous gifts we have been able to establish our 

first endowed professorship in pharmacy with the Leslie F. Buggey Professor awarded to Dr. 

Keith Simons in 2013.  

In the fall, 54 new pharmacy students were welcomed to the Faculty. Our current student body 

outreach into the community with volunteer activities is inspiring and your continued support is 

what makes this possible. Our pharmacy students have also performed exceptionally well again 

on the national pharmacy board examinations.  

Our current faculty members have disseminated their scholarship and influenced pharmaceutical 

development, clinical practice and health policy representing the profession and the Faculty of 

Pharmacy and the University of Manitoba very well locally, nationally and internationally. We 

were pleased to welcome Dr. Geoff Tranmer, a research chemist from southern Ontario as a full-

time assistant professor to the Faculty in July 2013. We also welcome Dr. Christine Leong, a U of 

M alumni and clinical practice specialist, as a full-time assistant professor to the Faculty in July 

2013. We are continually growing and we are once again building more clinical practioner offices 

and we are currently in the midst of hiring new faculty members. With our new strategic plan in 

hand we enter this era in pharmacy with great hopes and aspirations for the future of our 

profession. We will build on a strong foundation of excellent teachers and productive researchers 

and clinicians within the Faculty of Pharmacy as we move forward.  

I have now visited over 70% of Manitoba’s pharmacies on my tour of the profession so far 

(http://umanitoba.ca/faculties/pharmacy/pharm_locations.html). What I have recognized is that 

Manitoba pharmacists are often unsung heroes, but as Dean of Pharmacy, I sing the praises of 

pharmacists every chance I get in the community, at the University, and with politicians and 

policy makers that I meet. We are a respected profession but also full of humility. Pharmacists 

and our craft, our training and experience have had significant influence and a dramatic impact 

upon the world in which we live. Serving the community in many different ways pharmacists can 

be underappreciated, and underrated. However, clearly the importance of Manitoba pharmacists 

and our contributions to society are both world changing and world class. The ‘inconvenient 

truth’ is that pharmacists are professionally warming the globe one patient and one pharmacist at 

a time. 

I am very proud of what we have collectively accomplished over the past year. I would like to 

thank everyone again for their professional commitment which facilitates the success of the 

profession and the Faculty of Pharmacy. 
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2. Outstanding Teacher Awards 2012-2013 

1st year Ms. Nancy Kleiman 

2nd Year Dr. Leann Chee 

3rd Year Dr. Alan McIntosh 

4th Year Dr. Lavern Vercaigne 

 

3. Research 

In research success investigators in the Faculty of Pharmacy have received a total funding of 

$1,143,779in 2012-2013. 

 

Some of the major grants are:  

Dr. Mike Namaka was awarded a research grant of $47,092 for his project entitled 

Transcriptional Regulations on Brain Derived Neurotrophic Factor by MeCP2: Implications in 

Maintenance repair of Myelin Damage Associated with Multiple Sclerosis. 

 

Dr. Emmanuel Ho, as co-PI, was awarded a CIHR Canadian HIV Vaccine Initiative Grant of 

$372,438 for 3 years for his project Limiting HIV target cells by inducing immune quiescence in 

the female genital tract 

 

Dr. Silvia Alessi-Severini received a grant in the amount of $19,640 from Pfizer Canada for the 

project entitled Use of Prescription Medications for Smoking Cessation in the Province of 

Manitoba (2013) 

 

Dr. Hope Anderson received a CIHR grant to be distributed over five years grant with funding of 

$611,905. The proposal is to investigate the protective mechanisms of endocannabinoidsin 

cardiac hypertrophy.  

 

Dr. Emmanuel Ho received a Canadian Foundation for Innovation (CFI) award for $129,741. The 

fund will go towards the project Microbicide Development and Characterization Laboratory. 

 

In graduate studies Basma M. Aloud will be awarded the M.Sc. degree in Pharmacy program in 

February 2014. 

 

4. Undergraduate Admissions 

In September 2013, we welcomed 54 new students into the Faculty of Pharmacy. This maintained 

a similar enrollment as the previous year to help meet the demand for pharmacists. The statistics 

for the 54 students in the 2013 B.Sc.(Pharm.) admission cohort compared with the 2012 cohort 

are provided below.  

 

We plan to admit up to55 students in 2014/15. 

 

Applications for admission to the B.Sc.(Pharm) increased from 301 to 320. The five-year average 

is 293. The number of applications to our program remains strong. The average entry level AGPA 

for the regular pool was 4.14, slightly higher than the five-year average of 4.07. In 2013, 96% of 

successful applicants were graduates from high schools in Manitoba. 63% of the current 

admission cohort is female and 37% of the current admission cohort is male. There are currently 

11 aboriginal students (5.2%) enrolled in the Faculty of Pharmacy (self-declared). 

 

In the first year class of 2013/14 out of 54 students: 

 . 15 had 1 year of university level studies completed 

 . 11 had 2 years of university level studies completed 
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 . 13 had 3 years of university level studies completed 

 . 15 had completed one or more degrees prior to be admitted to the Faculty 

 

The age of a Faculty of Pharmacy student ranges from 17-39 and the average age is 21. 

 

Number of Undergraduate Students 

Enrolment  2012/13 2013/14 

Year 1   55   54 

Year 2   51   58 

Year 3   52   49 

Year 4   55   50 

Total   213   211 

 

5. 2013 PEBC Results and Student Success 

The University of Manitoba Faculty of Pharmacy Class of 2013 was ranked second in Canada (in 

terms of overall pass rate) in the 2013 Pharmacy Examining Board of Canada (PEBC) Qualifying 

Examination, however we ranked first overall in the Multiple Choice Portion of the Examination.   

 

While Manitoba offers one of the smaller Pharmacy programs in Canada (ranked 9 of 10 in terms 

of student numbers), our performance in the national qualifying examination has typically been 

good with graduates achieving a number one ranking on the exam four times in the last eight 

years. 

 

6. Philanthropy  

At the Faculty of Pharmacy, we are fortunate to have such dedicated alumni and donors who 

choose to support our program. This support enables the Faculty to attract the most talented staff 

and students, to stimulate world class pharmacy program and scholarship in exceptional facilities  

 

During 2013, we were very grateful to receive 164 gifts to the Faculty of Pharmacy for a total of 

$338,395.  

 

Highlights include a very generous gift of $100,000 that was given to create an additional student 

scholarship by Irene Lewis in honour of her brother Dr. Roman “Roy” Bilous, an alumni and 

former faculty member. The members of the Manitoba Pharmaceutical Association have 

continued to support the faculty with total contributions to the Faculty of Pharmacy since 1983 at 

almost $2.5 million. Thank you to all the members of our profession for their collective efforts to 

continue advancing the education of outstanding pharmacists for the citizens of Manitoba. 

 

7. Report on Funding Received from the Manitoba Pharmaceutical Association, 2013 

The Faculty of Pharmacy has a mission to create an educational environment that facilitates the 

integration of pharmacy scholarship in the areas of practice, research and service to effect optimal 

health outcomes for individuals and communities, and the advancement of the profession of 

pharmacy. We are pleased to be joined in this mission by the pharmacists of Manitoba who 

contribute to the delivery of the professional program in many ways, including a financial 

contribution as part of the annual licensing process. The funds collected by The Manitoba 

Pharmaceutical Association (MPhA) on behalf of The University of Manitoba, Faculty of 

Pharmacy from the levy on all pharmacists for practicing licenses in 2013 were $146,700.  
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The funds were allocated to the following initiatives in support of the professional program. 

 Creation of additional clinical practitioner office suite for practice development expansion -

$24,800 

 Structured Practical Experiential Program [SPEP]) and Skills Labs support and maternity 

leave $42,184 

 Diagnostic Lab testing teaching program: Clinical Chemistry Analyzer-$28,137 

 Practice faculty conferences - $9,400 

 Support for the Standardized Patient program (PHRM 1100, PHRM 2100 and PHRM 3100). - 

$4,700 

 Support included standardized patient training, case planning and development workshops - 

$9,240 

 Computer and software for clinical instruction - $4,500 

 Lab equipment purchases for skills laboratory - $5,300 

 Physical assessment training - $2,600 

 Model Dispensary hardware/software and supplies - $2,607 

 Creation of online physical assessment models - $1,600 

 Blood pressure monitors, stethoscopes, thermometers, mercury sphygmomanometer other 

supplies - $3,632 

 Clinical professional practice Summer Student - $8,000 

 

In appreciation for the continued support of the CPhM we have created the Gold Medal Lounge 

in the Apotex Centre. Plaques listing the winners of both the University and MPhA Gold Medals 

adorn the walls along with the new logo of the CPhM. Students now use the space daily in their 

studies and we welcome all members of the CPhM and former gold medal winners to visit. 

 

Graduation is June 5th, 2014, at the Brodie Centre on the University of Manitoba Bannatyne 

campus, followed by Convocation at the Fort Garry campus. All Pharmacy alumni are welcome 

to attend. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Neal M. Davies BSc(Pharm), Ph.D., R.Ph. 

Dean and Professor 

Faculty of Pharmacy 
Portions of this report have been abstracted from the full Faculty of Pharmacy Annual Report for July1, 2012 to June 30, 2013. 
Available as a pdf document on the Faculty website at http://umanitoba.ca/faculties/pharmacy/media/Annual_Report12_13.pdf and from the Pharma 

News Winter 2013 Alumni Report also available as a pdf document on the website: 
(http://umanitoba.ca/faculties/pharmacy/media/Pharma_News_Winter_2013.pdf). 

 
University of Manitoba Pharmacy Students’ Association (UMPhSA) 

Senior Co-Stick Report 

The 2013-2014 school year has had many successful and memorable events for the students at the 

Faculty of Pharmacy. As the Senior Co-Stick of the Pharmacy Students’ Association (UMPhSA), 

I feel privileged to report on some of our notable accomplishments. 

 

The school year was kicked off with the UMPhSA Meet and Greet night to welcome 1st years into 

the Faculty. We also held an orientation for them to create excitement for the upcoming events 

and to encourage involvement. As a result of student involvement UMPhSA and CAPSI have 

been very successful in their charitable efforts this year. Starting with the first annual “Saving 

Second Base” Softball Tournament and Social in August with proceeds going to Breast Cancer 
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Research. In total the Faculty of Pharmacy Run for the Cure team raised $4000. In September, 

“The RED Party” raised an incredible $7500 for The Mood Disorders Association of Manitoba. 

Our biggest event of the year however was the 2nd Annual Mr. Pharmacy Pageant organized by an 

excellent team of volunteers from all years of pharmacy. The pageant was held at the beautiful 

Metropolitan Centre in Winnipeg. We paired up with the Children’s Hospital and ran a toy drive 

at the event, which collected over 150 toys for kids over the Christmas season! Louis Chute (4th 

year) won the title of Mr. Pharmacy 2013 followed by Riley Love (3rd year) and AJ Stewart (2nd 

year). A new award this year was for Mr. Congeniality, which was awarded to Kulwant Singh 

(3rdyear). Many thanks goes out to MSP, MPhA, the Faculty of Pharmacy and the Student 

Association for their generous support in making this event possible. In December, class 

presidents paired up with the UMSU Hamper program and were able to send out three large 

hampers. Last but not least, the first ever “Banny Bowl” will be held in early February. It is a 

joint event between the faculties on the Bannatyne campus and will include a hockey tournament 

followed by a social with all proceeds going to the WISH Clinic. This should be a fantastic inter-

professional event that could come at no better time as we move forward together as the Faculty 

of Health Sciences in the upcoming year.  

 

The Class of 2014 spent the fall fundraising for grad with bake sales, show and save books, a 

wine raffle and the Halloween-themed social. In addition to grad, students are getting prepared 

for their upcoming PEBC’s in May as well as actively looking for jobs upon graduation. The 

annual Skits and Wits evening is also fast approaching as well as Pharmacist Awareness Month 

and the MSP conference. We hope to have fantastic student representation at all these upcoming 

events.  

 

Academically our faculty has had some notable accomplishments in January at the Professional 

Development Conference in Vancouver. Heidi Marschall (4th year) placed 1st in the national 

patient interview competition and she now has the opportunity to represent Canada at World 

Congress in Porto, Portugal. Also, in the compounding competition, the 4th year team of Ashley 

Ewasiuk, Jillian James, Steve Burcynski and Heidi Marschall were awarded a very respectable 4th 

place. We had 49 delegates attend PDW this year and the students were grateful for the generous 

funding from the faculty. 

 

UMPhSA has also facilitated the student voice to be heard in regards to the amalgamation of the 

Faculty of Health Sciences. A petition was released in November, which gained 180 supporters 

and raised awareness of the impending changes that will impact our current Faculty. 

 

It has been my pleasure being the leader of such a hard-working, collaborative and successful 

student council. Over the past two years I have seen these council members continually bring new 

ideas to the table and challenge the student body to become advocates for the profession of 

pharmacy. I hope that in the coming years UMPhSA will continue that reputation within the 

University and in the community. 

 

Sincerely, 

Jillian James, Senior Co-Stick 

University of Manitoba Faculty of Pharmacy  
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